KEIO UNIVERSITY MARKET QUALITY RESEARCH PROJECT

(A 21st Century Center of Excellence Project)

KUMQRP DISCUSSION PAPER SERIES

DP2004-011

Bank credit risk disclosure in Japan

Mikhail Frolov*

Abstract

The recent banking crisis has highlighted deficiencies in the credit risk management of Japanese banks. To correct the problem by leveraging market discipline, the industry needs to enhance its transparency in the quality of lending assets. An additional impetus for reconsideration of the present disclosure regime comes from the endorsement of the new Basel (II) regulations on capital adequacy and expected revision of Japan's mandated disclosure rules for banks. The report reviews the present disclosure practices in the Japanese banking and analyzes the quality of disclosed information about the banks' lending assets. It reveals the strong and weak sides of the present disclosure regime and delivers important insights into determinants of the banks' disclosure activities. The results lead to the formulation of specific suggestions on what is needed to improve transparency in the lending activities of Japanese banks.

Graduate School of Economics and Graduate School of Business and Commerce, Keio University 2-15-45 Mita, Minato-ku, Tokyo 108-8345, Japan

^{*} Postdoctoral Fellow, Faculty of Economics & Faculty of Business and Commerce, Keio University The 21st Century Center of Excellence Program

Bank credit risk disclosure in Japan

Mikhail Frolov*

October 20, 2004

JEL Classification: G21, G28.

Keywords: Public disclosure in banking, Mandatory disclosure rules.

* postdoctoral research fellow, the 21st Century COE Joint Research Program, Faculty of Economics & Faculty of Business and Commerce, Keio University, e-mail: mfrolov@coe-econbus.keio.ac.jp.

Extended abstract

The recent banking crisis has highlighted deficiencies in the credit risk management of Japanese banks. To correct the problem by leveraging market discipline, the industry needs to enhance its transparency in the quality of lending assets. An additional impetus for reconsideration of the present disclosure regime comes from the endorsement of the new Basel (II) regulations on capital adequacy and expected revision of Japan's mandated disclosure rules for banks.

The report reviews the present disclosure practices in the Japanese banking and analyzes the quality of disclosed information about the banks' lending assets. It reveals the strong and weak sides of the present disclosure regime and delivers important insights into determinants of the banks' disclosure activities. The results lead to the formulation of specific suggestions on what is needed to improve transparency in the lending activities of Japanese banks.

Findings and suggestions of the report are as follows.

At present, Japanese banking organizations disclose information via multiple channels
including the disclosure reports, securities reports, business result briefs, and company
presentation meetings. Information releases via the disclosure and securities reports follow
mandated rules set up in by-laws, and the other two channels convey information disclosed
largely on a voluntary basis.

The banking organizations have relatively weak incentives for voluntary releases in the disclosure reports, because they are targeted mostly at protected creditors and too costly for meaningful comparison across multiple organizations. Unlike the reports, business result briefs are less costly in use, and they have recently become the main channel of voluntary disclosures made by the commercial banks to manage mass-media and reputation risks.

The credit associations and cooperatives typically have no unprotected creditors. For that reason, they disclose only through the mandatory reports, and the total flow of information they make open to the market falls far behind that of the commercial banks.

2. The present disclosure regime places strong emphasis on information about non-performing loans. The information is largely consistent across banking organizations, takes explicit account of collateral and guarantees, and is directly linked to the structure of the loss provisioning system. These properties and the recent efforts of the authorities to enforce strict loan classification largely alleviate the long-standing concern about underprovisioning in Japanese banks.

Unlike, the NPL figures, loss provisioning rates receive far less attention. Furthermore, in the present provisioning framework they are strongly tied to the historical loss experience. As a result, the value of provisioning rate disclosures as a source of information about expected credit losses is reduced.

3. A large survey of credit risk disclosures on the level of individual banking organizations shows that the presence of specific data requirements in the nation's mandatory disclosure regime ensures that the banking industry delivers a relatively large flow of financial information.

The disclosures are rather uniform across individual organizations and generally supply market participants with sufficient information about the magnitude of losses expected from impaired credit assets.

By comparison, the disclosures of forward-looking information, which is related to the probability and magnitude of losses expected from the non-impaired asset portfolio, are shown to be much scarcer or absent.

4. The statistical analysis of survey results finds voluntary disclosures unattractive to financially weak banks. It leads to the conclusion that given the present degree of protection of banks' creditors by the financial safety net, the voluntary disclosures are unlikely to assure the market has all the needed information about the credit risk of individual banking organizations.

The analysis confirms that the business result briefs are relatively more driven by the information demand of market participants, but the content of the disclosure reports is predominantly shaped by the official requirements and lacks feedback from the information users.

- 5. Based on the results, the report suggests to:
 - (1) retain the mandatory disclosure principle as an effective basis of the disclosure regime in the future;
 - (2) make a mechanism of consensus-making over desirable disclosures an explicit integral part of the mandatory disclosure regime;
 - (3) employ electronic filing of the disclosure reports with a publicly accessible centralized storage; and
 - (4) augment and rebalance specific disclosure requirements toward enhanced disclosure of forward-looking information about future credit losses.

Acknowledgements

The report was prepared as a part of the joint research program of the Faculty of Economics and Faculty of Business and Commerce, Keio University "Development of a Theory of Market Quality and an Empirical Analysis Using Panel Data".

The author gratefully acknowledges the comments and suggestions from Professors Mitsuhiro Fukao, Kazuhito Ikeo, Takashi Kaneko, Yukitami Tsuji, and other members of the research program.

Ms. Yoshiko Sato of Japan Investor Relations Association, Mr. Taro Teramitsu of the Asahi Shimbun Co., and two anonymous respondents in Jiji Press Ltd. were generous in providing data and invaluable insights into the industry practices.

The author expresses his gratitude to the 21COE Program at Keio University (grant-in-aid I-1 by the Japanese Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology) for financial support.

Table of Contents

Pa	age
List of Tables and Figures	vi
I. Introduction	. 1
II. Disclosure practices by banking organizations in Japan	. 3
2-1. General mandatory disclosures	. 3
2-2. Disclosure reports	. 5
2-3. Disclosures according to the Financial Revitalization Law	7
2-4. Securities reports	. 7
2-5. Business result briefs	9
2-6. Voluntary disclosures	10
2-7. Comparison and discussion	12
III. Conventional indicators of bank credit risk	14
3-1. Credit quality classification systems	14
3-2. Loss provisioning and write-off information	17
3-3. Discussion	24
IV. A survey of credit risk disclosure	26
4-1. Types of disclosed credit information and its availability	26
4-2. Determinants of disclosure	31
V. Directions to enhance credit risk disclosures: A proposal	40
VI. Summary and concluding remarks	45
References	47
Data Appendix	49

List of Tables and Figures

Pa	age
Table 1. Mandatory disclosures by banking organizations in Japan	4
Table 2. Comparison of main types of information disclosure by banking organizations in	
Japan	13
Table 3. Statistical analysis of loan loss provisioning by Japanese banks	21
Table 4. Availability of credit risk data on Japanese banking organizations	27
Table 5. Statistical analysis of credit risk disclosure by Japanese banking organizations:	
Selected results	34
Table 6. Suggested requirements to credit risk (quantitative information) disclosure by	
Japanese banking organizations	43
Figure 1. Credit quality classification systems in the Japanese banking	15
Figure 2. Loan write-off and loss provisioning system in the Japanese banking	19

I. Introduction

As the tidal wave of bank failures in late 1990s has settled down and the Japanese banking system has slowly turned to recovery, the nation again faces the long-standing task of improving efficiency of its financial sector. It is no more the problem of removing regulatory constraints and building conditions for new advances in financial technology. Instead, the society has got increasingly concerned about deficiencies in the core activity of managing bank credit risks. The nation's banking sector has been too slow in its adaptation to macroeconomic changes and continued to misprice loans by setting credit margins far below the level needed to cover credit costs (Oyama and Shiratori, 2001).

The failure of the bank management to adapt is rooted in the weakness of market discipline for the banks. It is apparent that the bank management will continue to drive the industry to new insolvencies if the bank creditors and other market participants do not start strongly discriminating among the banks upon their performance. The market has certainly got more focused on distinguishing between "good banks" and "bad banks", after the banking crisis showed the government was no more willing to extend its implicit protection to the entire banking industry. But it is obvious that to eventually succeed in getting incentives right, influence of the market over the banks' managerial decisions needs to be further strengthened.

The importance of effective market discipline for the future recovery of the Japanese banking sector propels the issue of bank transparency to a list of prerequisites for developing a high-quality financial market. Bank transparency, in this respect, is defined as public disclosure of reliable and timely information that enables users of that information to make accurate assessment of a bank's financial condition and performance, business activities, risk profile, and risk management practices (BCBS, 1998, p. 4). Market discipline benefits from public disclosure, because it improves the ability of market participants to make informed decisions: It allows more accurate assessment of a bank's financial strength and performance, increases the credibility of information disclosed by the bank, demonstrates its ability to monitor and manage risk exposures, and reduces market uncertainty (pp. 5-6).

The last decade has witnessed a continuous debate over the sufficiency of disclosure in the Japanese banking sector. And it is quite obvious why the discussion has predominantly been focused on rebalancing and enhancing disclosure requirements set up by the authorities. Public disclosure of bank information, *per se*, does not necessarily imply government intervention with mandated disclosure rules, because banking organizations have incentive to voluntarily disclose to the public. A role for mandated disclosure rules arises as far as the incentive is weakened by the presence of the government policy of financial safety net. That is, the mandated rules should aim at bringing bank disclosures back to the socially desirable, optimal level. Still, the extent of the optimal disclosures is not very clear both in general and in the specific cases of individual

_

¹ For further elaboration on this point refer to Frolov (2004b). This paper and another background study for this report (Frolov, 2004a) are available from the author upon request.

banks. Hence, finding the optimum is a precondition for the bank disclosure regime to contribute to enhancing the quality of the nation's financial market.

The experience of recent years shows the problem of finding an optimal form for the national disclosure regime has grown into an acute issue of significant practical interest. In early 1990s the authorities started putting pressures on the industry to disclose more information on risks arising from the banks' lending activities. The industry was generally reluctant to disclose open new indicators of credit risk, expressing its concern that the indicators may mislead the public, since they do not reflect the true risk exposure and lack comparability across individual banks. The pressures, however, mounted as the banking crisis became acute. New disclosures were hectic and just fueled further suspicion of the general public that the banks were still hiding the true degree of credit quality deterioration. Although the financial safety net prevented major agitations among depositors, as a result, many banking organizations have switched to active management of mass-media and reputation risks and started seeking ways to improve their disclosures.

These developments coincided with the Basel Committee's work on the new capital adequacy framework. Its adoption in June 2004 set a deadline for the implementation of the Japanese national version of the improved capital adequacy regulation. Since the new framework includes explicit disclosure requirements, it equally means that the regulators and the industry should have scrutinized the existing disclosure regime and developed its revised version by the end of 2006.

In this report we shall address the challenge and examine the credit disclosure activities of banking organizations in Japan. Our primary focus will be on analyzing the quality of disclosed information about the banks' lending assets and investigating the strong and weak sides of the present disclosure regime. Our ultimate intention in this study is to formulate specific suggestions on what is needed to improve bank transparency in lending activities.

The structure of the report is as follows. In the next section we review the disclosure practices in the Japanese banking system. Section III analyzes the quality of information conveyed by the conventional indicators of credit risk. Sections IV and V survey credit risk disclosures on the level of individual banking organizations and develop a proposal to enhance the present disclosure regime. Section VI concludes.

II. Disclosure practices by banking organizations in Japan

The present disclosure practices of the Japanese banking organizations include those based on legal requirements, rules set by industrial organizations and stock exchanges, and voluntary actions. Table 1 summarizes the mandatory disclosure regime for the main types of banking organizations in Japan – commercial banks, credit associations, and credit cooperatives. Commercial banks are joint stock companies licensed for the banking business under Art. 4 of the Banking Law.² Credit associations (also called the *shinkin* banks) and credit cooperatives are smaller, cooperative-type banking organizations chartered and regulated under their industry legislation. The associations and cooperatives conduct deposit-taking, lending and other basic banking activities, and the only material difference from the traditional commercial banking is the presence of restrictions either on their geographic location or on the types of their customers.

2-1. General mandatory disclosures

The first type of the mandatory disclosures reflects the general disclosure requirements for publicly held joint stock companies. Since the banking legislation requires banks to have at least ¥1b (about \$9m) of own capital, all the commercial banks meet the large company criteria under the Commercial Code and, thereby, must follow its special auditing and disclosure rules for financial statements. In particular, Art. 283 para. 4 of the Code stipulates the requirement for large joint-stock companies to make a public notice of their balance sheet and income statement immediately after the general shareholder meeting.

The nature of business transactions of the commercial banks, however, is different from that of ordinary non-financial firms, and for that reason Art. 20 and 57 of the Banking Law rule that such public notices have to be made in a daily newspaper and the disclosed financial statements should have a special reporting format as stipulated in the Banking Law Enforcement Ordinance. This disclosure requirement developed at an early stage as an effort to convey information about publicly held companies to potential investors in their stock or debt. The prescribed reporting format (Forms 6-8 of the Ordinance) is rather brief and contains just major entries from the full version of a bank's balance sheet and income statement reporting forms.

The credit associations and credit cooperatives are not required to make public notices of their balance sheets and income statements, since they are closed-firms by the nature of their corporate organization. Still the industry legislation of both associations and cooperatives mirrors the Commercial Code in that it stipulates disclosures aimed at the existing association (cooperative) members and creditors. As a result, the owners and creditors of all the three types of banking organizations are entitled to inspect and copy the annual business reports and (full-scale) financial statements of their organizations.

⁻

² Besides the commercial banks, there is a number of banking organizations chartered or licensed under special legislation – such as long-term credit banks, trust companies, etc. They all are joint-stock companies, and all the disclosure requirements of the Banking Law and Commercial Code equally apply to them.

Table 1. Mandatory disclosures by banking organizations in Japan

Disclosure practice	Commercial Banks	Credit Associations	Credit Cooperatives
1. Public notice of the balance sheet and the profit and loss statement in a daily newspaper BL Art. 20, 57 ¹ ; BL within 3 months after the lapse of each business year	BL Art. $20, 57^1$; BL Ordinance Art. 19	I	I
2. The business report, balance sheet, profit and loss statement, profit appropriation statement (or loss disposition statement), schedules, and auditing report are kept in the main office for 5 years and other offices for 3 years and offered for inspection and copying by shareholders (credit association / cooperative members) and creditors upon their request.	CC Art. 282, BL Ordinance Art. 20	CAL Art. 37, para. 8~9; CAL Ordinance Art. 5-2	LFBC Art. 5-4, para. 8~9; LFBC Ordinance Art. 5-3
3. Explanatory documents stating the matters relating to the circumstances of business and property (the "disclosure report") are prepared within 4 months after the lapse of each	BL Art. 21, para. 1; CAL Art. 89; C BL Ordinance Art. Ordinance Art.	BL Art. 21, para. 1; CAL Art. 89; CAL LFBC Art. 6; BL Ordinance Art. Ordinance Art.	LFBC Art. 6; LFBC Ordinance

BL Ordinance Art. 19-2, 19-4 business year and along with the balance sheet and the profit and loss statement kept in property (the "disclosure report") are prepared within 4 months after the lapse of each the business places and offered for the inspection of the public for one year.

4. The amounts of asset risk categories (sound assets, assets requiring special attention,

FRL Art. 7; FRL

FRL Art. 7; FRL

Ordinance Art.

FRL Art. 7; FRL Ordinance Art. 5~6.

Ordinance Art.

ı

1; Art. 25, para. 1;

BED Ordinance

Art 15.

SEL Art. 24, para.

Art. 22-2, 22-4

20-2, 20-4

and annual closing of books) are announced and stated in the disclosure report, which is risk assets, and irrecoverable or valueless assets after asset disposition upon semiannual prepared to offer for the inspection of the public.

mitted annually (semiannually) to the Prime Minister within 6 (3) months after the lapse of each business year (of the first half of each business year). The Prime Minister keeps appropriate for protecting public interests and investors (the "securities report") is sub-5. A report stating the important matters relating to the circumstances of accounting and the securities report for 5 years (3 years) and offers it for the inspection of the public. other content of business operation of the company,² and other matters necessary and

6. Brief business results (annual, semiannual, and quarterly), business projections, important corporate decisions and events of the company are filed with a stock

exchange in a timely manner and made available for the inspection of the public.

TSE-TDR Art. 2, 2-3.

The Commercial Code (Art. 283, para. 4) and the Law for Special Exceptions to the Commercial Code Concerning Audit, etc. of Kabushiki Kaisha (Art. 16, para. 2) contain a similar disclosure requirement for joint-stock companies with the own capital of ¥500m and higher. The requirement is binding for all commercial banks as they fall in the large joint-stock company category according to the minimal capital requirement of the Banking Law (Art. 5, para. 2). The reporting requirement applies to companies whose securities are listed on a stock exchange or by a securities dealers' association, or a registered offering of d

Similar rules exist on all other Japanese stock exchanges. whose securities has been made.

CAL Ordinance – the Credit Association Law Enforcement Ordinance; LFBC – the Law Concerning Financial Business by Cooperatives; LFBC Ordinance – the Ordinance to Enforce the Law Concerning Financial Business by Cooperatives; FRL – the Financial Revitalization Law; FRL Ordinance – the Financial Revitalization Law Enforcement Ordinance; SEL – the Securities and Exchange Law; BED Ordinance – the Cabinet Ordinance Concerning the Disclosure of Business Enterprises, etc.; TSE-TDR – the Tokyo Stock Exchange Rules on Timely Disclosure of Corporate Information by Issuer of Listed Security. Abbreviations: BL – the Banking Law; BL Ordinance – the Banking Law Enforcement Ordinance; CC – the Commercial Code; CAL – the Credit Association Law;

The business reports include a brief description of business activities, annual changes in business offices, personnel and management, and key indicators of deposits, lending, and securities holdings. Information covered by this disclosure requirement is not unique, as it typically becomes available via the disclosure reports (under Art. 21 of the Banking Law) one to two months later. Nevertheless, banking organizations seem to be reluctant to disclose the statements and the business report to persons other than those entitled by the law.³

2-2. Disclosure reports

The third type of the requirements in Table 1 is by far the most comprehensive mandatory disclosure aimed at a financially unsophisticated general public. Art. 21 of the Banking Law (and corresponding parts of the credit association and credit cooperative legislation) requires banks to prepare explanatory documents stating the circumstances of business and property and offer them for public inspection at bank branches.

The so-called disclosure reports were introduced in 1982 after a recommendation made by the Financial System Research Committee (FSRC), a consultative body to the Prime Minister.⁴ Initially, pressures by the Japanese Bankers Association (JBA)⁵ led to the adoption of a declarative disclosure requirement (Yamori, 2002): The banks had complete discretion over types of disclosed information and there were no sanctions against failure to comply with the requirement. But three years later the FSRC suggested that banks should go beyond disclosing only their operating performance and should make public information on their financial soundness. The Committee also pointed to the poor comparability of the disclosure reports and recommended to set up a uniform disclosure standard for all types of banks. In response to the recommendations, in September 1987 the JBA issued a set of 52 minimum disclosure requirements. Although the Uniform Disclosure Standard (UDS) was developed on the basis of the disclosure reports of major banks, its content strongly resembled the format of the securities report filed by banks under the Securities and Exchange Law.⁶ It included regular accounting information, but indicators of bank soundness were limited to the capital adequacy ratio, operating margin and interest margin, ⁷ deposit-loan and deposit-securities ratios.

_

³ In March 2004, the author requested the inspection of recent business reports in branches of a credit association and a credit cooperative located in Tokyo metropolitan area. In both cases, branch managers refused to grant access before the author became a member of the institutions.

⁴ The peculiarity of the decision-making process in the Japanese government is that decisions made by ministries or individual officials typically follow related recommendations by one of the government consultative bodies. The recommendations are not binding legally, but deliberations in the consultative bodies often help to develop a consensus among the government, regulated entities, and other related parties. Even if a party is dissatisfied with an outcome of the deliberations, typically it turns out to be difficult to change something, once a recommendation has been issued.

⁵ Before April 1999, known as the Federation of Bankers' Associations of Japan (FBAJ).

⁶ It is no surprise since the securities report's format had also been developed by the JBA.

⁷ Banks could omit the margin indicators at their discretion.

During the next decade, the UDS went through several rounds of extension – mostly in the indicators of asset quality and risk:⁸ In 1993, after an interim report by the FSRC recommended improvements in the disclosure of loan quality (and the Ministry of Finance, the banking regulator at that time, made a similar request), the JBA reluctantly adopted disclosures of bankrupt and non-accruing credit exposures in the banks' loan portfolios.⁹ It also made mandatory the disclosure of the net operating profit, market price information about securities, and loan loss allowances broken down by type.

Few years later, as the situation in the Japanese banking started aggravating, the national regulator got increasingly concerned with having the domestic disclosure regime for non-performing loans in line with the SEC's bank disclosure requirements adopted in the US. In 1995 the FSRC delivered the final report in which it insisted on disclosing not only impaired exposures but also positions that may affect profits in the future, and set a timetable for achieving the full NPL disclosure by all other types of banking organizations by March 1998. In response to the request, the JBA started disclosures of interest-exempt and other restructured loans, and the national associations of *shinkin* banks and credit cooperatives similarly introduced uniform disclosure standards for their members.

The large bank failures of 1997-1998 triggered further pressures and led to the full adoption of the US SEC's classification of loans for disclosure purposes (the so-called "risk-monitored loans") and ultimately to the replacement of the industry's UDS with explicit requirements in by-laws in 1999. The new legal rules made the disclosure reports truly mandatory (including penalties for the failure to comply), 10 but they brought, however, just minor qualitative improvements: Information on the maturity structure of deposit, loan and securities positions was added and some redundant data removed.

Despite the thorough legal requirements, the effectiveness of the disclosure reports seems to be rather mixed. First, as noted by Shiba (1996), information in the reports is difficult to comprehend by customers with low financial knowledge but considered insufficient by customers with some financial knowledge. This halfway feature of the official disclosure reports is reflected, for instance, in the emphasis by banking organizations on the so-called "mini-disclosure reports" – semiannual or quarterly leaflet-type in-branch handouts that contain just key indicators of financial soundness and very often accompanied by comics-based explanation.

Second, despite the uniform structure of reported information, the comparison of the

⁸ Other extensions boiled down to breakdown changes in the accounting reporting format and to the introduction of performance ratios (though readily computable from the data of the financial statements).

⁹ Suggestions to start disclosing non-performing loans had been voiced long before the date, but the JBA was constrained by the lack of consensus among its members and officially opposed such suggestions arguing that they would undermine the financial order (Hoshino, 1996).

¹⁰ For instance, Art. 63, para. 1-2 and 1-3 of the Banking Law prescribe up to 1 year of imprisonment and ¥3m of fines for the failure to comply with the requirements of Art. 20 and 21. Similar provisions exist in the industry legislation of credit associations and cooperatives.

disclosure reports is rather a challenging task in practice: Since the law demands the reports be available to customers only in branch offices, in many cases one cannot compare them without visiting branches of all banking organizations under consideration. Certainly, libraries of the national associations (e.g. that of the JBA) receive copies of the reports on a voluntary basis, and most banking organizations make the reports available on their homepages in the Internet. Still, as shown below, the reports are too often missing from these sources whenever there are financial difficulties or a major reorganization, their collection for meaningful comparison turns to be laborious, and access to the hardcopy library collections is very burdensome.

Third, the disclosure reports have surprisingly low level of recognition among bank customers. For instance, Yamori (2002) provides circumstantial evidence that customers' requesting inspection of the reports is so rare that it requires a while for the staff of a bank branch to find a copy.

2-3. Disclosures according to the Financial Revitalization Law

The fourth type of mandatory bank disclosures in Japan is solely related to the quality of credit portfolio. Since late 1998, the Financial Revitalization Law (FRL) and its Enforcement Ordinance have stipulated that all deposit-taking financial institutions shall annually and semiannually self-assess the quality of their credit assets, report the results to the authorities and make them public by stating in the disclosure reports.

"The FRL-disclosed assets" are the second type of mandatory disclosure of credit risk categories after the risk-monitored loans disclosed under the Banking Law. Although the FRL-disclosed assets are somewhat wider in scope and more realistic, they generally duplicate information conveyed by the risk-monitored loans and equally ignore collateral and other means of risk mitigation. The redundancy in the mandatory disclosure of credit quality comes from the nature of the Financial Revitalization Law. The legislation was enacted in the aftermath of large-scale bank bankruptcies to lay down a system of financial crisis management and permanent schemes of bank-failure resolution. Accordingly, the mandatory disclosures stipulated in this legislation aimed primarily at providing some objective criteria for resolution actions.

2-4. Securities reports

The reporting requirements under the Securities and Exchange Law apply only to companies that issue negotiable securities to the general public.¹¹ As of June 30, 2004, 118 commercial banks, 11 bank holding companies, and 6 trust companies have filed securities reports for financial year 2003 ended on March 31. They represent all domestically incorporated banks excluding 4 commercial banks and 10 trust companies, whose stock is held privately by

_

¹¹ A company is granted exemption for the report filing obligation if its registered securities are held by 25 or less holders (Hamada and Matsumoto, VIII 1-39).

their parent companies.

The reporting requirements of the Securities and Exchange Law are typically not binding for the cooperative-type banking organizations, because their securities are not negotiable. The only exception is the *Shinkin* Central Bank, a central institution for the credit association network: It also files a securities report, for it issues preferred fund certificates listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange.

The commercial banks file securities reports that follow a reporting format specific to the banking industry. The reporting format is developed by the JBA and during the last two decades has gone through changes similar to those of the disclosure report. At present, the annual securities reports of banks include: the full-scale version of financial statements and attached schedules; a breakdown of costs and revenues by type of financial activity and by (domestic vs. foreign) place of origination; an itemized breakdown of business costs; year-end and year-average figures of deposit, loan and securities holdings broken down by the type of customer (industry) and transaction; itemized regulatory capital, etc. As a rule, the data is reported on the consolidated basis, but for the sake of comparison the reports also contain references to non-consolidated figures and to the results of previous periods.¹²

The format of the securities report seems to influence the way the commercial banks present information in the disclosure reports: The additional ("voluntary") disclosures provided by banks in their disclosure reports beyond the minimum requirements of the Banking Law Enforcement Ordinance are very similar to the required entries of the securities report's format. Certainly, unlike the disclosure report, the banks cannot experiment with the layout of the securities report and are not free to add new entries to its reporting format. Still, from the standpoint of bank risk assessment, the information content of a bank's disclosure report typically mirrors that of its securities report.

Furthermore, the securities report outperforms the disclosure report in the accessibility of the information to market participants. Since the former one is filed with the authorities, its users enjoy the benefits of low-cost centralized access to the information. In particular, the securities reports are available for public inspection as hardcopies at all the domestic stock exchanges and the MoF regional bureaus. But what is far more important, they are also available in an electronic form either via commercial information vendors, or recently via the EDINET, an Internet-based electronic disclosure system run by the government. The disclosure reports, on the contrary, do not allow centralized access, and this feature makes comparison of their information across multiple banks rather costly. Since comparability is among the essential requirements to credit risk disclosure, the feature explains why the present disclosure regime of commercial banks should be viewed as practically more effective than that of the credit associations and cooperatives that do not convey their disclosed information in a centralized way.

_

¹² The semiannual report is based on the provisional settlement of accounts at the end of September. For that reason, its format is less itemized and misses some non-financial data.

2-5. Business result briefs

The last type of disclosures listed in Table 1 is mandatory only for commercial banks and bank holding companies whose stock is listed for trade on one of the domestic stock exchanges. As of June 30, 2004, 95 listed commercial banks and bank holding companies have announced their brief business results for financial year 2003 at major stock exchanges and filed them through the stock exchange electronic disclosure network. Nevertheless, the same information is regularly released by other banks on a voluntary basis. For instance, 23 non-listed commercial banks have also briefed mass media on their business results in FY 2003 exactly matching the released information and its presentation format to those of the disclosure requirements at stock exchanges.¹³

Information released at stock exchanges encompasses both regular briefs of business results and irregular disclosures of changes in business result projections, important corporate decisions and material events. The regular disclosures have their origin back in the 1970s when an association of financial journalists accredited to the Tokyo Stock Exchange (TSE)¹⁴ requested the listed companies to supply business result information according to a pre-specified format. Soon thereafter, the TSE itself included the reporting form into its manual for the listed companies. Starting August 1998, the business result briefs are also released in an electronic form through the TDnet, a public access computer network which is run jointly by all the domestic stock exchanges (excluding the Osaka Stock Exchange). Furthermore, since September 1999 the TSE and other exchanges have introduced mandatory rules for timely disclosure of important information by the listed companies and explicitly required them to do it via the TDnet.

At present, the press is briefed on the annual (semiannual) business results of a commercial bank immediately after the results are approved by its board of directors. A typical announcement consists of three parts: (1) a one-page brief of financial results, (2) supplementary information, and (3) explanatory materials. Strict requirements to content exist for the first part only. The first page contains data on the operating and net profit, return on equity, total and net assets of the last two business years and profit projections for the next business year. The page is formed on the basis of an entry form in the TDnet.

-

¹³ Only 2 other non-listed commercial banks released information about their business results in FY 2003 with significantly different presentation format.

¹⁴ The so-called "journalist clubs" are a phenomenon specific to the mass-media in Japan (and South Korea). They are formed as professional clubs of journalists accredited to the press-rooms of public institutions – government ministries, political parties, economic organizations, etc. On many occasions, participation in press-conferences, etc. held at these public institutions is limited to the members of corresponding journalist clubs. The clubs have rotating secretaries who give approval for the organization of press conferences inside the clubs and communicate in advance with the information-releasing parties about topics the journalists are interested in. The TSE serves as a basis for the "*Kabuto* Club", but questions for the press conferences of large commercial banks are often originated from the "*Nichigin* Club" accredited to the Bank of Japan.

The supplementary part includes qualitative information, financial statements, and notes on changes in the top management. There is no required format for the qualitative information; instead, stock exchanges suggest possible topics for discussion. As a general tendency, in this part commercial banks briefly discuss all the suggested topics but change their presentation layout depending on the emphasis they want to make.

There are no mandatory rules for such materials, but comparison across multiple organizations reveals that core information content of the materials is quite similar and follows a common presentation format. In fact, the information has two distinct parts usually referred to as the common and additional questions. The former one seems to be a result of some sort of coordination by sectoral associations of Japanese bankers, and the latter one is related to a questionnaire sent to large banks by the "*Nichigin Club*", an association of financial journalists covering banking organizations.¹⁵ Although the banks are free to choose what questions to answer, and whether or not to use the suggested tabular forms, they tend to closely watch their peers' presentations and, as a result, to provide core information according to an industry-wide *de facto* standard.

By information content, the core data of the annual and semiannual¹⁶ business result briefs is close to that of disclosure reports or securities reports. Nevertheless, the business result briefs are an important element of the present disclosure regime. First, they appear several months before other disclosures. Second, they have high comparability and allow low-cost centralized access by market participants. Third and potentially most important, the banks have discretion over what to disclose above the minimum requirement, but unlike disclosure reports there is also a peer competition effect that partially improves incentives for voluntary disclosure.

2-6. Voluntary disclosures

Voluntary forms of disclosure among the Japanese banking organizations are strongly

-

¹⁵ To confirm the observed tendencies, the author sent inquiries regarding the explanatory materials to the sectoral banker associations, several banks, and the *Nichigin* Club. By the time the report is prepared, the only response has been received from the *Nichigin* Club. According to it, the questionnaire aims at supplying financial journalists with exact figures when they prepare their reports, and thus it reflects the mass media's areas of interest. The *Nichigin* Club presents the questionnaire only to the city and long-term credit banks that give their corporate presentations of financial results in the Club. Although all other banks give press-conferences at their corporate headquarters, many of them also include answers to the questionnaire to their explanatory materials. Apparently, the banks regard the questionnaire as reflecting the locus of mass media concern and use it to identify disclosure demand.

¹⁶ Since 2002, the commercial banks have also started disclosing their brief results for the first and third quarters of business year. The JBA's guidelines suggest that banks show the following quarterly data: the FRL-disclosed assets, capital adequacy ratio, market pricing of securities and derivatives, and other qualitative information deemed necessary. Since April 2004, the TSE and other domestic stock exchanges have also made the quarterly disclosures mandatory for all the listed firms. Their minimum requirements include the disclosure of the quarterly sales, operating, current and net profit, quarter-end gross assets and equity capital. At present, the quarterly disclosures are really brief, and it is yet to be seen whether they will develop into a meaningful information source from the standpoint of credit risk assessment.

influenced by the prevailing type of information users. Credit associations and cooperatives emphasize the use of mini-disclosure reports and other in-branch "propaganda" leaflets targeted at the general public with low financial knowledge. Being limited to these customers as the only source of funding, the cooperative-type banking organizations focus on persuading local communities and neighborhoods of their financial soundness and low risk. Accordingly, in their voluntary disclosures they use clear-cut figures and soundness indicators, which are usually played up by the mass media, and take steps to build a positive image in the customers' eyes.

The commercial banks also use these voluntary disclosure tools, but they typically add more information content and make the mini-disclosure reports closer to an abridged version of the mandatory disclosure reports. In addition, the banks emphasize disclosures targeted at the individual and institutional investors in their equity capital. These investor-relation (IR) tools include regular company-presentation meetings, press releases, etc.

Unlike the voluntary disclosures targeted at the general public, the explanatory handouts distributed at the presentation meetings (and later posted at the banks' websites) tend to contain detailed data and forward-looking information, which is not available from the mandatory disclosure sources. The usability of this information for regular credit risk assessment is, however, somewhat limited, because it lacks comparability and may be difficult to obtain without attending such presentation meetings.

When using the IR tools, the commercial banks exhibit clear differences from the mainstream of Japanese firms. A recent opinion survey of 3655 publicly-traded corporations conducted by the Japan Investor Relation Association (JIRA, 2004) has showed that, when compared to other firms, Japanese financial institutions (mostly large and medium size banking organizations) are more concerned with conveying their business strategy and inviting long-term investors, and relatively less focused on achieving an appropriate price level of their stocks. In particular, a notable emphasis is made on having company-presentation meetings targeted at individual investors, because the financial institutions are eager to increase the number of individual shareholders and to assure the long-term nature of stock ownership.

Responses to the survey also indicate that the financial institutions tend to use the IR activities for the purpose of risk management in public relations: They do not simply make more steps towards early disclosure of data on their financial soundness, but also more strongly monitor the web for the presence of unfavorable rumors.

Finally, the survey indirectly confirms that financial institutions are generally more active in disclosure than publicly traded corporations on average: The annual cost of investor relation activities among financial institutions is 43% higher than IR costs paid by an average respondent firm of the same size.

¹⁷ Recently, credit associations have started publishing electronic versions of the materials at their websites. Credit cooperatives are generally less active in this respect.

2-7. Comparison and discussion

Table 2 summarizes the present situation in information disclosure by the Japanese banking organizations. The mandatory disclosures in the annual disclosure report and the securities report are intended mostly for the general public (either depositors, or investors) and supply information about the current period results in comparison with performance during the past 1 to 4 periods. The disclosure report targets mostly protected creditors and typically demands much time and effort if to be used for comparison across many organizations. For that reason, the banking organizations have weak incentives for voluntary disclosure in these reports beyond the minimal legal requirements. The format of the securities report leaves no place for the voluntary disclosures at all.

The mini-disclosure reports and similar types of information aim at filling gaps in the mandatory disclosures: Their content is timelier and takes better account of the financially unsophisticated audience. Besides the improved periodicity, however, the mini-disclosure reports add no much new information and also suffer from insufficient incentives for active voluntary disclosures.

Originally, the business result briefs were no more than routine announcements of the current business performance by commercial banks. But recently, the combination of the ongoing crisis in the industry and relatively good comparability of the briefs has produced peer competition and propelled the banks to active management of mass media and reputation risks in these voluntary disclosures. Although the banks are still generally reluctant to disclose any information, they are also strongly concerned with the risk of being left behind the average level of disclosure in their peer group and the corresponding risk of being unfavorably publicized by the media in the volatile financial environment. This, in turn, necessitates active steps to augment the information available through the specialized media and analyst reports, and to convey to investors the banks' own view of their business condition.

On balance, the combination of differences in mandatory requirements and funding sources explains why the commercial banks produce a larger flow of both past/current and forward-looking information than the cooperative-type banking organizations. Although large urban credit associations have recently made steps to more active disclosures, the incentive for voluntary disclosure among credit associations and cooperatives is much weaker than among the commercial banks.

lat	ole 2. Comps	arison of the i	main types of i	ntormation dis	table 2. Comparison of the main types of information disclosure by banking organizations in Japan	king organizati	ions in Japan	
	Applic	Applicability	Legal	Prevailing		Targeted	Low-cost	Incentives for
Disclosure type	Commercial banks	Cooptype organizations	(contractual) requirement	type of information	Periodicity	information users	(centralized) access to information	active voluntary disclosure
Disclosure reports (BL, Art. 21)	səX	Yes	Yes	Current and past information	Annually	General public (depositors)	No (partial²)	Weak
Securities reports	Yes	No	Yes	Current and past information	Semiannually	Investors	Yes	Not applicable
Mini-disclosure reports	Yes	Yes	No	Current information	Semiannually and quarterly	General public (depositors)	No (partial²)	Somewhat weak
Business result briefs	Yes	No	No ¹ /Yes	Current and forward-looking information	Annually and semiannually	Mass media and investors	Yes (partial²)	Somewhat strong
Company-presentation (IR) meetings	Yes	N _o	o N	Current and forward-looking information	1-4 times a year	Investors and mass media	No (partial²)	Somewhat strong

Notes:
1. For the most part of disclosed information.
2. At corporate web-sites

III. Disclosure of conventional indicators of bank credit risk

Among the credit risk information disclosed by banking organizations, several types of data, such as the levels of non-performing loans, loss provisioning and loan write-offs, command especial interest of the market participants. The rate of general allowance for doubtful loans may be an important source of forward-looking information about future credit losses, the rate of the specific allowances conveys insights into the value of impaired but not yet collected loans, whereas the rates of non-performing loans and loan write-offs may augment the allowance rates if their levels get distorted by banks' underprovisioning (Frolov, 2004a). The usability of these conventional indicators, however, may be strongly influenced by prevailing accounting practices, regulatory policies, taxation rules, and other institutional factors. This section will explore the quality of information conveyed by such indicators in the Japanese institutional environment.

3-1. Credit quality classification systems

At present banking organizations in Japan use three systems of credit quality classification: Two of them (the Risk-Monitored Loan classification and the FRL-Disclosed Asset classification) are used for the purpose of official reporting and public disclosure, and the third one (asset classification under the Self-Assessment Framework) is used internally for the purpose of calculating officially required provisioning and allowed tax-exempt write-offs. Figure 1 compares the three classification systems.

As discussed above, the Risk-Monitored Loan classification is an early disclosure requirement stipulated in the Banking Law Enforcement Ordinance and modeled after the disclosure requirement for banks by the US SEC. In this classification framework, both "Loans to borrowers in legal bankruptcy" and "Overdue loans" represent impaired credit exposures. The two are different in whether or not formal legal procedures have been taken upon bankruptcy. "Loans past due three months or more" and "Restructured loans" represent intermediate classification categories between sound and impaired exposures. The specific feature of this classification system is that it deals only with bank loans and ignores other types of credit exposures, such as securities loaned, foreign exchanges, suspense payments, etc.

By comparison, the classification system envisioned in the Financial Revitalization Law covers all the types of impaired credit exposures. Another difference of the latter system is that the decision on whether or not an asset is ultimately impaired is not necessarily linked to the fact of formal legal actions taken against the borrower. In all other respects, the two classification frameworks are the same, and disclosures based on them convey largely the same information.¹⁸

¹⁸ As mentioned above, this overlapping of disclosure requirements comes from the fact that the latter classification system was established as an emergency response to the banking crisis and used for decisions on whether or not a banking organization should be granted public funds.

Risk-Monitored Loans	FRL-Disclosed Assets	Asset Classification by Self-Assessment	ification k	by Self-A	ssessn	ent
(Loans)	(Loans) (Other assets ¹)		$(Loans + Other assets^1)$	her assets ¹	(
Loans to borrowers in legal bankruptcy ² (D)	Unrecoverable	Bankrupt borrowers ⁸ (e)	Ι	П	 	VI
Overdue loans ³ (C)	or valueless assets ² (D)	Effectively bankrupt borrowers (d)	I	П	Ш	IV
	Risk assets ⁶ (C)	Borrowers in danger of bankruptcy (c)	I	П	Ш	III
Loans past due 3 m or more (B) Restructured loans ⁴ (A)	Loans requiring special attention 7(B)	Borrowers	П	п	п	II
		attention ¹¹ (b)	Ι	П	П	П
(Sound loans)	Sound assets (A)	Normal borrowers (a)	I	I	I	I
į	Classification by borrower	Classification by borrower	s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s	cured secured by, of the not periton cured secured by, of the not sperior superior value of by alacral collateral (collateral collateral (guarantees) tees) tees) tees) Classification by collateral (arantees)	of the appraisal syalue of collateral collateral (guaran-tees)	portion not secured by collateral (guaran- tees)

Figure 1. Credit quality classification systems in the Japanese banking

Notes: 1. Securities loaned, foreign exchange, accrued interest, suspense payments, customers' liabilities for acceptances and guarantees, 2. Of loans for which interest is not accrued due to long overdue, the loans claimed for disposal in accordance with the procedure laid down in law. 3. Loans for which interest is not accrued due to long overdue, the loans claimed for disposal in accordance with the procedure laid down in law. 3. Loans for which contract accrued due to long overdue and which do not come under "loans to borrowers in financial difficulties, such as exemption from interest payments, deferment of interest payments, and renunciation of financial claims. 5. Assets to "bankrupt or effectively bankrupt borrowers where self-assessment framework 6. Assets to "borrowers in danger of bankruptcy" under the self-assessment framework 7. Loans past due three months or more, and "restructured loans" under the risk-monitored loan classification framework. 8. Borrowers who are legally and formally bankrupt 9. Borrowers whose businesses in a critical situation with no possibility of recovery (borrowers who are virtually insolvent and have long overdue payments). 10. Borrowers whose businesses in a critical situation and who will be very likely to go bankrupt (borrowers who are virtually insolvent). The Borrowers whose terms of lending are problematic, for example, being exempt from interest payments, and borrowers who have difficulties in repaying principal, such as wake or unstable due mainly to large net losses. 12. May also include the portion recognized as collectible from inquidation dividends, etc. in case of bankruptcy. 13. The difference between the appraisal value and the disposal value of both superior and other-than-superior types of collateral Source: based on Bank of Japan (2001) and FSA (2004a) with minor alterations by the author.

15

The third classification system reflects rules established by the banking supervisor in order to introduce an industry-wide standardized approach to banks' self-assessment of asset quality and to their calculation of necessary loss allowances. The classification system is stipulated in "Financial Inspection Manual" issued by the Financial Service Agency (FSA), the Japanese banking supervisor. ¹⁹

Unlike the other two systems, the self-assessment classification takes into account the presence of collateral and guarantees. In particular, the assets are classified in two steps: At first, a bank classifies its obligors into six risk groups, and then divides exposures in each risk group into four portions (risk categories) depending on the extent of protection by collateral or guarantees; finally, summing up by risk category across all borrower groups gives a rough breakdown of the assets by the level of expected default losses.

Figure 1 suggests that all three classification systems convey similar information about the distribution of impaired credit exposures among risk groups (i.e., exposures above a borderline between groups (b) and (c) in Figure 1).²⁰ Furthermore, in all the three systems the impaired assets are classified according to uniformly set *pro forma* criteria. This implies that the classification results should not be strongly affected by possible differences in the classification policies of individual banks, and the figures should be roughly comparable across banks, as long as the banks have the same treatment by regulatory authorities during inspections.

At the same time, the Self-Assessment Framework improves on the other two systems when it comes to the classification of non-impaired assets: The self-assessment procedure implies classification of obligors and not their obligations; therefore, whenever a borrower defaults on one claim, all her other claims will be classified as if she defaulted on them as well (for instance, all the claims will go to "need special attention" group, if just one of them has been past due for more than three months or restructured). The treatment can be justified on the grounds that the risk of impairment depends on a borrower's condition, and thereby economically it is roughly the same for all claims on the borrower regardless her actual

.

¹⁹ Legally, the manual is just a uniform guideline for inspectors when they examine banking organizations' approach to risk management and the accuracy of their assessment of asset quality. The results of asset classification and loss provisioning, however, are a very sensitive issue for banks, as they affect their (regulatory) capital adequacy ratio and may trigger the application of the prompt corrective measures by the FSA. Accordingly, the banks can be effectively punished for their self-classification results' being softer than those delivered by inspectors during on-site examinations, and for that reason, the manual serves as a *de facto* standard for the banks' self-assessment activities.

²⁰ Correspondence between groups (C) and (D) of the FRL-Based system and groups (c) and (d)+(e) of the Self-Assessment Framework is explicitly laid down in Inspection Manual. In addition, since group (B) of the FRL-Based system is referenced in the manual to combined groups (A) and (B) of the Risk-Monitored Loan system, the borderline between impaired and non-impaired credits is roughly the same for all the three classification systems. Furthermore, a uniformly binding definition of the borderline is given by the Japanese Institute of Certified Public Accountants (JICPA) in its "Practical Guidelines for Accounting Standard Concerning Financial Instruments". In particular, "borrowers in danger of bankruptcy" are interpreted as those who have long overdue of payments (roughly for 1 year or more) or have problems in the present financial condition (e.g., such as *de facto* negative capital).

performance on particular claims. By comparison, the FRL-Based and Risk-Monitored-Loan systems are focused on classification of individual claims and may fail to correctly recognize some credits to risky borrowers, where the definition of a risk group is not referenced to obligors' condition. Consequently, the Self-Assessment Framework leads to more precise classification of (non-impaired) credit exposures.

Under the existing legislation, banking organizations in Japan are explicitly required to disclose asset classification results of the first two systems. The self-assessed asset classification is officially intended for internal use only. Nevertheless, its results are also made public by the majority of commercial banks, as well as by the largest credit associations. For instance, the self-assessed classification of assets by borrower risk group is present in 74% of business result briefs and 45% of disclosure reports of commercial banks for financial year 2002.

The tendency may have a twofold explanation. On the one hand, the legally required disclosures do not fully reflect the exposure to assets, which raise concerns but are not yet recognized as impaired. Since the size of this ("borrowers that need attention") risk group is important for explaining future dynamics of the default rate, disclosure of the group's size may help to calm down suspicions over the true state of credit quality. On the other hand, the disclosure of self-assessed risk classification categories also gives better understanding of the true exposure to the risk of credit losses. The legally required disclosures of the risk-monitored loans and FRL-based assets inform the public about the amount of non-performing loans (assets), which are generally a poor proxy for the risk of credit losses in individual banking organizations (Frolov, 2004a). In such a situation, the voluntary disclosure of the self-assessed risk categories may help to correct possible negative biases in the public's perception of a bank's riskiness.²¹

3-2. Loss provisioning and write-off information

As with asset classification, the basic premise of the loss provisioning regulation is that banking organizations calculate and establish loan loss allowance based on the results of their self-assessed asset classification and according to their own views on the likelihood and magnitude of losses in each risk category. In practice, however, the applied provisioning rates are also strongly driven by the guidelines of Financial Inspection Manual.²²

_

²¹ A breakdown by risk category was disclosed in 57% of cases in which commercial banks disclosed their self-assessment data in business result briefs, and in 47% of cases they disclosed it in disclosure reports for FY 2002.

²² As obvious from its wording, the manual is intended to give the FSA inspectors a benchmark for the minimal adequate level of provisioning while taking in account the specific conditions of a bank. The examination process implied in the document assumes, however, that the examined banks employ the same calculation procedure as that used in the benchmark calculations, and the inspectors are effectively targeted at checking whether or not each component of the provisioning formula satisfies corresponding minimum requirement laid down in the manual.

- Provisioning rules -

Figure 2 reports the provisioning guidelines laid down in the manual. Allowances for impaired credit exposures are set up as a specific ADL (allowance for doubtful loans) for each obligor and calculated taking into account existing collateral and guarantees. In particular, the banks are required to provide for the entire portion of bankrupt and effectively bankrupt exposures, which is not covered by the disposal value²³ of superior collateral (e.g., deposits, government and local authority bonds, bank debentures, prime-rating stocks, etc.), the disposal value of other types of collateral (e.g., real estate), and the portion of liquidation dividends deemed collectible in case of bankruptcy.²⁴ In the case of "borrowers in danger of bankruptcy", the banks similarly provide for the unsecured portion, but may use several alternative calculation schemes. The basic scheme suggests establishing allowance equal to a cumulative loss expected from the unsecured portion over three years, and generally refers to the historical loss experience as a basis for loss estimates.²⁵

Allowances for non-impaired credit exposures are established as a general ADL for a borrower category and calculated without taking an explicit account of collateral and other risk mitigation tools. In the case of both "borrowers that need attention" and "normal borrowers", the calculation formula suggests establishing an ADL equal to a loss estimate calculated cumulatively on the basis of historical loss experience. The period of cumulative loss calculation is three years for "borrowers that need special attention", and one year for other non-impaired credit exposures.

- Information quality concerns -

On balance, in the present regulatory environment of detailed rules for loss allowance calculation and their enforcement by the banking supervisor, the observed ADL levels of the Japanese banking organizations are likely to deviate from the banks' best estimates of expected credit losses. First, the provisioning levels may be excessively driven by the historical loss experience and tend to neglect forward-looking information. This feature is likely to be especially distorting for credit risk information conveyed by the general ADL established for non-impaired credit exposures.

²³ The disposal value is calculated as the product of collateral appraisal value and a weighting parameter. The weights are: 70% for real estate, 95% for government bonds, 70% for listed stocks, etc.

²⁴ To have a portion of the liquidation dividends included in Category II, the examined banking organization has to prove that their calculation is rational and collection is certain.

²⁵ The manual also suggests that historical loss rates should be corrected for future forecasts of changes in business conditions, etc., but it does not lay down rules of how to do it. At the same time, it drives inspectors to very conservative assessments: The manual explicitly stipulates that inspectors should check whether or not the loss estimates of the previous period were adequate as compared to the actually observed rate of losses, and if the correction of the historical rates in the previous period's loss estimation was sufficient. As a result, inspectors are more likely to take into consideration future forecasts suggesting an upward correction of loss rates than to consider those in favor of downward corrections.

Borrower		Asset category	ategory		Loan write-offs and loss provisioning guidelines	Se
category	Nonclas- sified (I)	Category II	Category III	Category IV	(Inspection Manual)	(the "Viewpoint" ¹¹)
Bankrupt and effectively bankrupt borrowers	Secured by superior	Secured by other- than-su-	100% provisio- ning as specific ADL	100% wri- te-off or provision- ing as spe- cific ADL	The amount of allowance for The portion of the credit (or/and direct write-off of) = classified to Category III credit to a specific borrower (or Category IV).	l
Borrowers in danger of bankruptcy	collateral (guaran- tees)	perior collateral (guaran- tees)	Provisi- oning as specific ADL, as far as ne- cessary		= (a) The portion of the credit classified to Category III × Cumulative expected loss rate over a projection yeriod² (or 3 years) of allowance = (b) The portion of the credit classified to Category III for credit to a - Collectible amount from cash flow³ over specific a certain period³ borrower = (c) The portion of the credit classified to Category III Chorrower - Sellable value³ group) = (d) ⁶ The book value of the credit – The sum of discounted cash flows² over a certain period⁴	70% of the portion of the credit classified to Category III
Of which: Borrowers that need special attention					i	15% of the portion unsecured by collateral or guarantees
Borrowers that need attention					The amount of (general) The amount of the credit in the borrower allowance for credit to a category × Cumulative expected loss a borrowers in the category rate over a projection period (or 1 year)	An appropriate amount
Normal borrowers					The amount of (general) The amount of the credit in the borrower allowance for credit to = category × Cumulative expected loss borrowers in the category rate over a projection period (or 1 year)	I

Figure 2. Loan write-off and loss provisioning system in the Japanese banking

Notes: 1. The actual loss rate in the past. Assessed as the average (over at least three calculation periods) historical share of credit losses in the principal amount (or as the average product of bankruptcy probability (incidence) and the forecasted rate of non-collection), which is calculated cumulatively for a (calculation) period in the past corresponding to the set projection period. If necessary, may be corrected for future forecasts in light of changes in economic conditions, forecasts for business conditions in the industry etc. of the borrower, forecasts for local economic conditions in the business territory of the borrower, and other relevant information. 2.A period in the future deemed rational for loss projection. 3. The portion that is deemed certain of collection from the amount of current profits of the borrowers and other non-financial items. 4.A period of three years or a period of five years if the borrowers in the credit and received interest on the credit amount of #10b and more). 7. The sum of cash flows relating to the collection of the principal amount of the credit and received interest on the credit amount of #10b and more). 7. The sum of cash flows relating to the average remaining term to maturity. 9.A period of five years ore less. 10. An appropriate amount calculated on the basis of the historical loss ratio taking into account the average remaining term to maturity. 11. Viewpoint on the Write-offs and Allowances in Association with Capital Injection (FRC, 1999).

Source: based on Bank of Japan (2001), FRC (1999), and FSA (2004b).

Second, the levels of provisioning for "borrowers in danger of bankruptcy", "borrowers that need special attention", and other "borrowers that need attention" can also be distorted if the suggested classification procedures of the manual are applied in too formalistic fashion. The formal parameters used to classify borrowers (e.g., their business performance) during inspections may be slow to show verifiable improvement, and this may temporarily create misclassification towards lower borrower categories.²⁶

Other possible areas of concern over the usefulness of observed ADL rates as an indicator of credit losses include the issue of officially targeted provisioning levels and that of the ADL rates' comparability across banks. Table 3 reports results of statistical analysis of the two aspects. First, it does not find support for the former concern and, to the contrary suggests, that the provisioning rates vary widely across banking firms and are not tied to specific thresholds. Since the Financial Revitalization Committee (FRC) expressed its view on the adequacy of loss provisioning in banks which apply for public fund injection, some commentators (e.g., Sudo 2004, p.67) have asserted that the target levels announced by the FRC²⁷ have considerable practical influence over the provisioning decisions of banks. Data in Table 3, however, indicates that as of March 2003, the loss allowance for the exposure to "in danger of bankruptcy" borrower group (calculated as its ratio to Category III portion) was on average below the officially suggested level of 70 percent and varied between 33 and 100 percent. Similarly, the loss allowance for the exposure to "need special attention" borrower group (calculated as its ratio to the portion unsecured by collateral and guarantees) was not confined to 15 percent level and instead exhibited large fluctuations between 4 and 82 percent.

Simple regression analysis in Table 3, nevertheless, provides some support for the view of diminished ADL-rate comparability across banks. In particular, it suggests that, besides differences in credit risk exposure, the variation of provisioning levels across banks is likely to be influenced by bank-specific approaches to problem loan resolution.

-

²⁶ Since Inspection Manual is intended to check the sufficiency of loss provisioning against a set of formal rules, inspectors will naturally tend to follow the rules unless there is well documented evidence supporting special consideration (e.g., classification to an upward category). In practice, it may mean, for instance, that even if a bank knows that a borrower is going to recover, it may still be forced to classify the borrower as "in danger of bankruptcy", simply because the recovery has failed to appear yet as an improvement in the borrower's business performance. This concern seems to be real in the case of the FSA's inspection manual. Circumstantial evidence to support this view is provided, for example, by the fact that in June 2002 (three years after the adoption of the inspection guidelines) the FSA delivered "Supplementary Volume of Financial Inspection Manual", which was aimed at preventing "the mechanistic and uniform application of the rules" and contained special case examples of classification of credit exposure to small businesses.

²⁷ 15 percent of the unsecured portion of exposure to "need special attention" borrowers and 70 percent of Category III exposure to "in danger of bankruptcy" borrowers, as showed in Figure 2.

Table 3. Statistical analysis of loan loss provisioning in Japanese banks

Descriptive Sta	tistics				
	Mean	Std. Deviation	Minimum	Maximum	No. observ. ¹
TOT-AS	4.34	10.54	0.14	62.57	105
DANG-CIII	66.37	13.56	33.71	100.00	105
SP-AT (%)	15.89	8.19	1.27	40.65	105
<i>SP-AT-UN</i> (%)	29.58	17.38	4.46	82.66	99
NORM (%)	0.17	0.32	0.004	1.80	30
CAP-02 (%)	9.20	1.68	4.60	14.00	105
DUM-SP-AT	0.14	0.35	0.00	1.00	105
DUM-CAP	0.79	0.41	0.00	1.00	105

Bivariate Correlation Analysis (Pearson correlation coefficients)²

	TOT-AS	DANG-CIII	SP-AT	SP-AT-UNS	NORM	CAP-02	DUM-SP-AT	DUM-CAP
TOT-AS	1.00				- 7			
DANG-CIII	0.12	1.00						
SP-AT	0.15	0.23***	1.00					
SP-AT-UNS	0.04	0.24***	0.81***	1.00				
NORM	0.05	0.20	0.60***	0.19	1.00			
CAP-02	0.19**	0.18**	0.04	0.00	0.46***	1.00		
DUM-SP-AT	-0.11	-0.29***	-0.17**	-0.35***	-0.21	-0.08	1.00	
DUM-CAP	-0.38***	-0.18**	-0.25***	-0.24***	0.01	-0.51***	0.21**	1.00

Regression Analysis (Ordinary Least Squares)²

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			,	
	(I)	$(II)^3$	(III)	$(IV)^3$	$(V)^3$
Regressors:	Dependent Varia	able: <i>DANG-CIII</i>	Dependent Va	ariable: <i>SP-AT</i>	D.V.: NORM
(Constant)	0.515 [.000]	2.600 [.001]	0.185 [.065]	0.551 [.323]	0.014 [.405]
TOT-AS	0.001 [.415]	-0.009 [.002]	0.000 [.451]	-0.438 [.982]	-0.000 [.227]
DANG-CIII	_	_	1.868 [.084]	0.447 [.972]	-0.007 [.078]
SP-AT	0.301 [.060]	0.013 [.971]	_	_	0.020 [.129]
NORM	_	-15.178[.143]	_	15.854 [.004]	_
CAP-02	1.183 [.271]	-5.273 [.116]	-0.654 [.393]	-2.595 [.201]	0.018 [.781]
DUM-SP-AT	-0.095 [.019]	-1.325 [.000]	-0.016 [.373]	-0.158 [.569]	-0.013 [.222]
DUM-CAP	0.004 [.930]	-0.098 [.219]	-0.051[.073]	-0.043 [.373]	0.002 [.477]
Adjusted R-sq.	0.101	0.572	0.078	0.321	0.517
F (zero slopes)	3.346 [.008]	6.545 [.000]	2.756 [.023]	2.968 [.024]	5.429 [.001]
No. observ.	105	30	105	30	30
				·	·

Variables: TOT-AS – total assets (in \(\) trillion), \(DANG-CIII - \) provisioning rate for Category III of "In Danger of Bankruptcy" borrower group, \(SP-AT - \) provisioning rate for "Need Special Attention" borrower group, \(SP-AT-UN - \) provisioning rate for the unsecured portion of exposure to "Need Special Attention" borrower group, \(NORM - \) provisioning rate for "Normal" borrower group, \(CAP-02 - \) capital adequacy ratio in March 2002, \(DUM-SP-AT - \) a dummy variable for \(SP-AT \) (0 if data by the FRL criteria, and 1 if by the self-assessment order and 1 if by the adequacy standard). by the international (BIS) adequacy standard, and 1 if by the domestic adequacy standard).

Notes: 1. There are 25 valid observations listwise. 2. P-values (based on heteroscedastic-consistent errors) are in parentheses; ** and *** indicate (one-tailed) significance levels of 5 and 1 percent respectively. 3. Corrected for a sample selection bias using the Heckman (two-step) procedure. Data Source: the author' calculations by the business result briefs of commercial banks for financial year 2002 (as announced in May 2003).

As discussed above, the present regulatory regime ties provisioning rate to the historical experience with losses from credit exposure to a borrower group. In these circumstances, one can hypothesize about two factors that may be responsible for systemic provisioning-rate differences across banks. First, banks may have different policies with respect to how long they are willing to support problem borrowers: Some of them may stop lending (and thus force bankruptcy) at a first sign of problems, while the others may continue funding until the problems develop into clear insolvency. Accordingly, the former banks will have relatively higher loss rates observed in low-risk borrower groups and lower loss rate in high-risk groups compared to those of the latter banks.

Second, all the borrower classification groups are likely to have higher loss rates, if a bank specializes on lending to borrowers who, by the nature of their business, have less repayment capacity upon default, and lower loss rates if lending to borrowers with intrinsically higher repayment capacity upon default.

Based on the two hypothesized effects, one may expect the following association links among the borrower classification groups:

Hypotheses about the factors of provisioning differences across banks:	Expected sig	gns of statistical associa	ation between
differences across banks:	DANG-CIII vs. NORM	NORM vs. SP-AT	DANG-CIII vs. SP-AT
H1: Continuity of support	‹‹_››	"+"/uncertain	"-"/uncertain
H2: Intrinsic borrower risk	"+"	" + "	"+"

In Table 3 we use data available from the business result briefs of commercial banks to see whether the actual statistical association among by-group provisioning rates can be explained by one of the effects or by their combination. Having controlled for other factors deemed practically important for the provisioning policy of Japanese banks, ²⁸ we observe that there is a tendency to (1) negative association between *DANG-CIII* and *NORM*, (2) positive association between *NORM* and *SP-AT*, and (3) positive association between *DANG-CIII* and *SP-AT*.

Obviously, the first result can be attributed to the presence of differences in the banks' willingness to support problem borrowers. The second and third results suggest that, in addition, the variation of provisioning rates across the banks are likely to be driven by differences in borrower-specific risk. The results are based on limited data, and thus they should be treated with much caution. Still, they indicate that in Japan the observed ADL rates are noticeably influenced by bank-specific policies and may deliver misleading conclusions if plainly used for comparison across individual banks.

.

among the data.

²⁸ *TOT-AS* (total bank assets) is intended to control for a possible bias due to the recent focus of supervisory inspections on larger banks. *CAP-02* (capital adequacy ratio in March 2002) controls for differences in banks' ability to absorb losses without coming under the threat of regulatory actions. *DUM-SP-AT* and *DUM-CAP* are dummies to control for possible biases due to measurement differences

Before the explicit provisioning rules were introduced in 1998-1999, the provisioning practices of the Japanese banking organizations were strongly influenced by tax considerations. Japan's Corporate Tax Law and related by-laws allow loss provisioning to be treated as a tax-exempt expense, but set up ceilings for the exemption so that all allowances beyond the ceilings are regarded as appropriation of (after-tax) retained earnings. According to the tax accounting rules, banking organizations can establish specific ADLs subject to the following ceilings for tax-exemption: 50% of expected loss from claims on borrowers against whom a formal legal action (bankruptcy, company reorganization, suspension of business, etc.) has been taken, 100% of expected loss from borrowers with negative capital over a long time (1 year), expected loss from agreed plans of company reorganization, special liquidation, etc. For exposure to other borrowers, banking organizations establish a (tax-exempt) general ADL subject to the maximum limit equal to the average historical loss rate.^{29,30}

In the presence of such tax exemptions, banks have incentive to maintain loss allowances at a level no less than the provisioning ceilings, for they naturally want to fully exploit this tax benefit. Furthermore, accounting practices in Japan had traditionally allowed doing it,³¹ and, as a result, levels of general ADL in Japanese banks were strongly driven by the tax treatment of loss allowances.

The practice had continued until the enforcement of Inspection Manual's rules in 1999 raised provisioning rates far above the tax-exemption ceilings. An additional incentive for banking organizations to stop sticking to the taxation-purpose standards of loss provisioning came with the introduction of the so-called tax-benefit accounting rules that recognized future tax-exemption benefits of loss provisioning (beyond the maximum limits) as deferred assets.

The influence of the taxation regime still largely persists in the way Japanese banking organizations write off impaired credits. As a general rule, the present taxation framework does not recognize losses from writing-off non-collectible credits as a business expense before all collateral has been liquidated and all guarantees called in. Since charging assets off the books

⁻

²⁹ The calculation formula of the historical loss rate is different, however, from that outlined in Inspection Manual: The historical loss rate for taxation purposes is based on the ratio of annual loan losses (amount of provisioning to specific ADLs in a business year) to the book-value of claims on (formally) non-bankrupt borrowers at the end of a business year, and it is calculated as the simple average of such ratios for three business years before the beginning of the reporting year. By comparison, Inspection Manual suggests that claims, for instance, to borrowers who fall into "borrowers that need special attention" and "borrowers in danger of bankruptcy" categories (and thereby are not formally bankrupt) should be provided for at a three-year cumulative loss rate. Further, see Notes to Figure 2.

³⁰ Before 2003, commercial banks could also opt for using a fixed uniform provisioning rate (of 0.3% of

³⁰ Before 2003, commercial banks could also opt for using a fixed uniform provisioning rate (of 0.3% of the exposures). At present, the option is still available to smaller banking organizations with own capital of ¥100m and less.

³¹ Some observers explain this tendency by the fact that, on the one hand, in the absence of clear reference criteria for loss provisioning, Japanese public accountants had traditionally used referencing to the tax treatment of loan losses as a short-cut way of assessing the appropriateness of banks' loss provisioning; on the other hand, both the MoF and JICPA had silently approved such policies. See, e.g., Daigo (1993).

before the date implies that in the future a bank will be unable to file them as an expense deductible from taxable profit, the bank would try to avoid the opportunity loss and keep the credits on the books all the time before the date. This explains why, unlike, for instance, US banks, Japanese banking organizations typically write off assets long after their impairment is evident and instead maintain specific allowances equal to the expected loss.

Since October 1998, Japanese tax authorities have also permitted banking organizations to charge off the Category-IV portion of impaired exposures (see Figure 4) and account it as a business expense even before legal actions against borrowers and collateral liquidation procedures have been finalized. Since then, some banks have started implementing the partial write-offs as a way of early disposal of impaired assets, but the use of the procedure is far from being a uniform and regular approach. For instance, only 26% of commercial banks (mostly large and some medium-sized organizations) reported their business results for financial year 2002 on the after-partial-write-off basis.

Although the procedure is likely to be employed mostly for cosmetic purposes,³² it seems to further obscure the comparability of the NPL and write-off indicators across banks. As a result, many commercial banks and some large credit associations are strongly concerned about being unfavorably publicized and, besides ordinary NPL figures, also report NPL levels they would have if they employed the partial write-off approach.

3-3. Discussion

On balance, when assessing the information content of the conventional indicators of bank credit risk, one should conclude that the levels of credit loss allowance by (borrower) risk group are generally superior to the NPL and write-off figures as a source of credit risk information.

Still, in Japan, information conveyed by the ADL rates is likely to be distorted away from the best and honest estimates of *expected* credit losses. Although at present provisioning levels in Japanese banks are no longer strongly influenced by tax rules, they seem to be excessively tied to the historical loss experience and tend to ignore forward-looking loss information. This feature of the present provisioning framework is not very disturbing in the case of impaired credit exposures, and (when there is a sufficiently long track record of ADL rates for individual

-

³² Under the present provisioning rules, banks have to provide for the entire Category-IV portion of impaired assets and to state future-period reduction in tax payments (from the difference between the allowance and permitted tax-exempt provisioning) as deferred assets. In the case of the partial write-off scheme, they charge off the portion of assets classified to Category IV and state the entire amount as tax-exempt expense of the current period. At first glance, the two approaches look different in that the materiality of the deferred assets in the former case may be questioned if the pre-tax profitability of a bank is marginally low. But if so, the bank could not fully use the tax-exemption benefits of the latter case either, and it would account them as deferred assets. Since in both cases the deferred assets can be carried over for the same period of five years, the only difference between the two cases is that in the latter one, the reported amount of impaired assets is smaller, and the bank could use the reduced figures to appeal to a financially unsophisticated public.

banks) the levels of *specific* loss allowances can be well used to infer the value of impaired but not yet collected loans. The overemphasized reliance on the historical loss experience, however, makes information conveyed by the levels of *general* loss allowance insufficient to assess current changes in the economic value of (non-impaired) credit assets of Japanese banks.

Information about non-performing loans and, more generally, about the structure of bank credit portfolios by borrower risk group plays a centerpiece role in the Japanese disclosure regime for banking organizations. The important properties of this information are that it is largely consistent across banks, takes explicit account of collateral and guarantees, and is directly linked to the structure of the loss provisioning system.³³ In addition, recent efforts by the FSA to improve its on-site monitoring of banks and impose administrative penalties for loan misclassification³⁴ seem to assure banks' correct classification of their credit exposures across risk groups. In these circumstances, one may conclude that the present disclosures of NPL classification results make the long-standing concern about underprovisioning in the Japanese banks far less acute.

NPL figures are, however, a very imprecise indicator of bank credit risk (Frolov, 2004a), and putting them into the center of the national disclosure regime may lead to increased information noise. Japan's experience with NPL disclosures in the last decade seems to support the view: Since 1996, the Japanese banking industry has been gradually increasing the scope of disclosed credit assets. The process went from making public total amounts of loans to bankrupt borrowers to those with restructured terms and then to those with past due payments – each time increasing the announced total amount of classified (non-standard) loans.

Against a background of large-scale bank failures, the ever-growing total numbers led the general public to mistrust banks' disclosures and to perceive all classified credit exposures largely as losses (Takenaka, 1998). Although both the authorities and the industry warned on many occasions that the size of the classified exposures is not directly related to the degree of their impairment, the market en large was still holding the developed negative image of the banks and stereotypically reacting even on doubtful information (Yamada, 1998).

The prevalence of the negative view seems to stem from the fact that market analysts develop their opinion about the financial position of Japanese banks being focused on future credit losses (IMF, 2001), but the present disclosure regime emphasizes NPL figures which cannot, by their nature, bring much certainty about expected credit losses in individual banks.

³⁴ The approach is quite different from that observed in other countries. As reported in CAAC (2003), banking regulatory frameworks of UK, Germany, and France (and to some extent that of US) rely more on banks' explicit commitments to specific classification and provisioning policies and on the monitoring of their observance by external auditors.

³³ According to JCIF (2003), uniform rules for NPL classification and disclosure are not unique to Japan, and exist e.g. in US, France, and Korea. The direct linking to provisioning rules and the disclosure of the NPL figures net of collateral are also observed in Korea.

³⁵ The exaggerated view of credit losses has been observed among market participants until very recently. For instance, see Sawayama (2002).

IV. A survey of credit risk disclosure

The concern over the quality of bank credit disclosure is the issue of whether practically available information is sufficiently complete and unbiased to allow correct inferences about the economic value of banking organizations. To assess the qualitative aspect of bank credit disclosure in Japan, we investigated the content of information publicly available from individual banking organizations. This section will report and analyze results of our survey of credit risk information contained in the disclosure reports and business result briefs of the Japanese banking firms.

4-1. Types of disclosed credit information and its availability

The survey covered all commercial banks, credit associations and cooperatives that maintained web homepages as of the beginning of March 2004. Table 4 reports the incidence of credit-risk related information among banking organizations, which published in the Internet full versions of their disclosure reports and (or) business result briefs for financial year 2002. The reported results cover over 95% of commercial banks, 43% of credit associations, and 9% of credit cooperatives that filed their disclosure information for this year. The information is arranged in groups following the types of needed information as suggested in Frolov (2004a). The reported disclosures represent all available data, which may be directly or indirectly useful with respect to the needed credit risk information.

The survey results suggest that the present system of mandatory disclosures assures that all banking organizations report credit exposures with a uniform breakdown by major type: first, with a breakdown of the total exposure by loans and other credits and further with a breakdown of the loans by type of lending contract and by place of origination (domestic vs. abroad). In general, the breakdowns seem to provide rather a good description of the exposure to credit products, which are predominantly used by small regional banks and cooperative-type banking organizations.

The officially required breakdowns, however, are far from being sufficient in the case of Japan's largest banks: The organizations are active internationally and have assets over half a trillion US dollars each. Still, the itemization of their disclosures does not go beyond the officially required minimum. Another problem of the available information breakdowns is that they are limited to the amount of credit exposure and not extended to the indicators of credit losses from different exposure types.³⁷ This feature undermines the materiality of the uniform information breakdowns employed in the Japanese system of mandatory bank disclosures.

The survey found no facts of Japanese banks' making public their risk transition matrixes in either the disclosure reports or the business result briefs.³⁸ The gap, nevertheless, seems to be

³⁶ The survey also covered other 55 associations and 14 cooperatives, which published only abridged (or altered) versions of their reports and are not included to Table 4.

³⁷ The only feasible exception is that the breakdown by loans and other credit exposures can be partially extended to the risk indicators of impaired assets if one compares figures supplied within the FRL-based system to those within the RML system.

³⁸ Although at present some banks are reported disclosing this type of information during their corporate presentations to investors.

much compensated by mandatory disclosure of the FRL-based asset categories and (for banks) by voluntary disclosure of the SAF borrower risk groups. In the case of the FRL-based classification, the accumulated data already covers a 5-year period for each bank and at least a 4-year period for each cooperative-type institution. Since the classification is rather uniform across the organizations, in principle the data allows one-period projection of by-category dynamics for

Table 4. Availability of credit risk data on Japanese banking organizations¹

Table 4. Availability of circuit fisk data on sa	_			Credit	Credit
D. L. C.	Com	mercial b	anks	Assoc.	Coops
Data description	Disclo-	Business	Com-	Disclo-	Disclo-
	sure reports	result briefs	bined	sure reports	sure reports
(number of sources)	(112)	(117)	(109)	(141)	(17)
Breakdown by sub-portfolios of credit products	()	()	()	()	()
Total credit exposures by loans and bills vs. others	100.0*	94.9	100.0	100.0*	100.0*
Loans and bills by type ³	100.0*		100.0	100.0*	
by domestic vs. foreign exposures	100.0*	0.0	100.0	0.0	0.0
by variable vs. fixed interest rate	0.0	0.0	0.0	2.8	0.0
period-average amount outstanding	100.0*	0.9	100.0	100.0*	
by domestic vs. foreign exposures	100.0*	0.0	100.0	0.7	0.0
Total acceptances and guarantees	100.0*	0.9	100.0	100.0*	
by type	15.2	0.9	15.6	0.7	0.0
Risk category transition matrix (structure by risk category					
Total credit exposures by SAF borrower group	45.5	74.4	76.1	8.5	5.9
by current vs. past periods of impairment	0.0	0.9	0.0	0.0	0.0
Total credit exposures by FRL asset category	100.0*	100.0	100.0	100.0*	100.0*
by industry (sector)	0.0	1.7	1.8	0.0	0.0
by specific ("troubled") industry	0.0	11.1	10.1	0.0	0.0
by before vs. after partial write-offs	3.6	13.7	14.7	0.0	0.0
Loans and bills by RML category	100.0*	100.0	100.0	100.0*	100.0*
by industry (sector)	0.9	1.7	2.8	0.7	0.0
by specific ("troubled") industry	0.0	11.1	10.1	0.0	0.0
by before vs. after partial write-offs	2.7	12.8	15.6	0.7	0.0
Shared characteristics of each risk category					
Classification category definitions	100.0*	100.0	100.0	100.0*	100.0*
Explanation of by-period changes in expected (estimate	d) loss ra	tes			
None	_	_	_	_	_
Distribution by the size of stand-alone exposures					
Number of borrowers by the size of exposure	0.0	0.0	0.0	3.5	0.0
Total loans and bills by the size of exposure	0.0	0.0	0.0	2.1	11.8
Number of stand-alone exposures					
Total number of borrowers (impaired + non-impaired)	58.9	3.4	58.7	58.9	0.0
by industry (sector)	38.4	0.0	36.7	58.9	0.0
by SAF borrower group	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.7	0.0
defaulted in the current period	0.0	3.4	3.7	0.0	0.0
by SAF borrower group	0.0	3.4	3.7	0.0	0.0
by small vs. other business borrowers	49.1	3.4	48.6	0.0	0.0
by housing loans vs. others	0.0	0.0	0.0	2.8	0.0
Bankruptcies over the current period by SAF bor. group	0.0	2.6	2.8	0.0	0.0

Table 4. (continued)

Table 4. (continued)					
	Comi	mercial b	anks	Credit Assoc.	Credit Coops
Data description		Business	Com-	Disclo-	Disclo-
	sure reports	result briefs	bined	sure reports	sure reports
Non-impaired credit				reports	Toports
Size of exposure	CAPOSUIC	<u> </u>			
Total credit exposures by SAF non-impaired bor. group	45.5	74.4	76.1	8.5	5.9
by risk category	21.4	42.7	45.0	2.1	0.0
itemization of "need special attention" group	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.7	0.0
Total loans and bills (impaired + non-impaired)	100.0*	100.0	100.0	100.0*	100.0*
by the use of borrowed funds ⁴	100.0*	0.0	100.0	100.0*	100.0*
by home region vs. other regions	42.0	8.5	45.9	5.7	0.0
by small vs. other business borrowers	100.0*	95.7	100.0	1.4	0.0
by large vs. other business borrowers	4.5	2.6	7.3	0.0	0.0
by housing loans vs. others	96.4	98.3	100.0	58.9	94.1
loans to individuals by the use of borrowed funds	0.0	0.0	0.0	2.1	0.0
by industry (sector)	100.0*	92.3	100.0	100.0*	100.0*
by the use of borrowed funds ⁴	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.4	0.0
by variable vs. fixed interest rate	100.0*	0.0	100.0	100.0*	0.0
by industry (sector)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.7	0.0
advanced abroad	100.0*	42.7	100.0	0.0	0.0
by foreign region (country)	2.7	42.7	43.1	0.0	0.0
Expected (estimated) loss rate					
Expected total credit loss in the next period	0.9	29.1	27.5	0.0	0.0
by type of credit loss expense	0.0	18.8	16.5	0.0	0.0
Expected return on loans and bills in the next period	0.0	2.6	1.8	0.0	0.0
Expected average funding cost in the next period	0.0	2.6	1.8	0.0	0.0
Credit loss allowances and reserves	100.0*	100.0	100.0	100.0*	100.0*
by type (general ADL, specific ADL, others)	100.0	97.4	100.0	100.0	100.0
general ADL by SAF non-impaired bor. group	8.9	28.2	28.4	2.1	0.0
by risk category	0.0	1.7	1.8	0.0	0.0
Effective rate of interest					
Average rate of return on loans and bills	75.0	91.5	98.2	95.7	100.0
by domestic vs. foreign exposures	75.0	0.9	74.3	0.7	0.0
Average funding cost	100.0*	95.7	100.0	100.0*	100.0*
by domestic vs. foreign liabilities	100.0*	0.9	100.0	0.7	0.0
Current value and structure of collateral assets (guaran		_	100.0	100.0*	100.0*
Total loans and bills by type of collateral / guarantee	100.0*	1.7	100.0	100.0*	100.0*
Guarantee endorsement by type of collateral / guarantee	100.0*	0.0	100.0	100.0*	0.0
Expected (estimated) collection time-schedule in case of None	ımpaırm	ent			
Prevailing maturity (duration)	_	_	_	_	_
	100.0*	0.0	100.0	100.0*	0.0
Loans and bills with fixed interest rate	100.0* 100.0*	0.0	100.0	100.0*	0.0
by remaining term to maturity		0.0 0.0	100.0	0.0 0.7	0.0
by short-term vs. long-term	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.7	0.0
Impaired credit ex	posures				
Size of exposure					
Total credit exposures by SAF impaired borrower group	49.1	76.9	78.9	9.2	5.9
by risk category	20.5	41.9	44.0	2.1	0.0
by current vs. past periods of impairment	0.0	8.5	6.4	0.0	0.0

Table 4. (concluded)

Data description	Commercial banks			Credit Assoc.	Credit Coops
	Disclo- sure	Business	Com- bined	Disclo- sure	Disclo- sure
	reports	briefs		reports	reports
FRL-disclosed assets (impaired categories)	100.0*		100.0	100.0*	100.0*
by industry (sector)	4.5	11.1	13.8	0.0	0.0
by period of impairment	5.4	24.8	22.9	0.0	0.0
net of collateral / guarantees	80.4	96.6	100.0	97.9	82.4
by asset category	100.0*		100.0	100.0*	100.0*
by industry (sector)	0.0	1.7	1.8	0.0	0.0
by specific ("troubled") industry	0.0	11.1	10.1	0.0	0.0
by before vs. after partial write-offs	3.6	13.7	14.7	0.0	0.0
by period of impairment	0.9	17.9	19.3	0.0	0.0
net of collateral / guarantees	65.2	74.4	87.2	57.4	70.6
Risk-monitored loans	100.0*	100.0	100.0	100.0*	100.0*
by industry (sector)	10.7	69.2	70.6	0.0	0.0
net of collateral / guarantees	10.7	19.7	22.0	96.5	94.1
by loan risk category	100.0*	100.0	100.0	100.0*	100.0*
by industry (sector)	0.9	1.7	2.8	0.7	0.0
by specific ("troubled") industry	0.0	11.1	10.1	0.0	0.0
by before vs. after partial write-offs	2.7	12.8	15.6	0.7	0.0
net of collateral / guarantees	0.0	3.4	3.7	57.4	64.7
Expected (estimated) loss rate					
Expected total credit loss in the next period	0.9	29.1	27.5	0.0	0.0
by type of credit loss expense	0.0	18.8	16.5	0.0	0.0
Expected return on loans and bills in the next period	0.0	2.6	1.8	0.0	0.0
Expected average funding cost in the next period	0.0	2.6	1.8	0.0	0.0
Credit loss allowances and reserves	100.0*		100.0	100.0*	100.0*
by type (general ADL, specific ADL, others)	100.0	97.4	100.0	100.0	100.0
specific ADL by SAF impaired borrower group	33.9	61.5	64.2	5.0	5.9
by risk category	14.3	27.4	30.3	0.7	0.0
ADL against FRL-disclosed assets (impaired)	82.1	100.0	100.0	97.9	88.2
by asset category	66.1	80.3	91.7	57.4	70.6
ADL against Risk-monitored loans	17.9	61.5	64.2	96.5	94.1
by loan category	0.0	3.4	3.7	56.7	64.7
Charges against specific ADL	67.0	1.7	67.9	68.1	5.9
Loan and bill (direct) write-offs	100.0*	100.0	100.0	100.0*	100.0*
Disposal of loans and bills	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
by type of disposal	24.1	100.0	100.0	2.1	5.9
by FRL asset category	5.4	18.8	20.2	0.0	0.0
by type of disposal	0.9	5.1	5.5	0.0	0.0
Cumulative collection performance	0.9	3.1	3.3	0.0	0.0
Remaining FRL-disclosed assets	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
by period of impairment	6.3	24.8	22.9	0.0	0.0
by type of disposal	1.8	24.8 9.4	9.2	0.0	0.0
Notes:	1.0	9.4	9.2	0.0	0.0

Notes:

- End-period (FY2002) figures unless otherwise specified; all in percentage points.
 * denotes data which is directly or indirectly available from mandatory disclosures.
 Loans on bills, loans on deeds, overdrafts, and bills discounted.
 Working capital vs. equipment.

Source: disclosure reports and business result briefs available from the corporate websites of banking organizations as of the beginning of March 2004.

individual banking organizations.³⁹

In the case of non-impaired credit exposures their size is best reflected by the SAF classification groups, whereas their structure may be fairly well characterized by breakdown information for the entire credit portfolio. Table 4 reports that in this respect the present disclosure regime in the Japanese banking produces a large flow of information, which is highly itemized and well comparable across individual organizations. For the majority of credit associations and many banks, the same is also true about the decomposition of the number of stand-alone credit exposures by major industries and economic sectors

These high quality disclosures, however, are not supported by symmetrically advanced information on other credit risk characteristics: The available data on expected credit losses and risk mitigation is far from being uniform and provides mostly indirect measurements. First, less than 20% of banks and none of credit associations and cooperatives provide their estimates of future net provisioning to the general loss allowance – a parameter which is attributable to the expected loss from non-impaired credit exposures. Still none of the disclosing banks makes public the specific assumptions used to develop their estimates.

Second, the lacking data could be somewhat replaced with uniformly available information on the present level of the general ADL. In this case, however, one would need to minimize the influence of historical loss experience. To do it, one should, ideally, concentrate on the rate of loss provisioning for "Sound Borrower" risk group. But as obvious from Table 4, this information is currently available only for a third of commercial banks and several credit associations.

Third, the disclosed data on interest rates turns to be too noisy and overly aggregated: As argued earlier, a comparison of changes in the average funding cost of a bank to changes in the effective interest rate on its new advances to sound borrowers could, ideally, provide a close measure of changes in the level of credit losses expected by the bank. The survey, however, indicates that Japanese banking organizations make public only the rate of return averaged over all loans – including those advanced in previous periods and those advanced as a part of debt restructuring programs. In addition, banks disclose no relevant information about the degree in which non-impaired exposures are secured with collateral and guarantees, ⁴⁰ but controlling for the degree of risk mitigation is essential when one is to explain changes in the loan rate.

Finally, the survey shows that information about the prevailing term to maturity of stand-alone credit exposures is available only for commercial banks and completely absent for

³⁹ The situation may be improved even further, if credit associations and cooperatives also start disclosing their results of the SAF classification, which is more precise for non-impaired credit exposures.

⁴⁰ As a part of mandatory disclosures, Japanese banking organizations make public information about a breakdown of their loan portfolios by type of collateral pledged by the borrowers. The information, however, lacks materiality in this case, because it says nothing about the appraisal value of the collateral itself.

the cooperative-type banking organizations.⁴¹

In the case of impaired credit exposures, both their size and expected loss rate are rather well reported by Japanese banking organizations. As discussed earlier, there are three systems which are simultaneously employed in Japan for the purpose of measuring credit exposures by the degree of risk. The systems mostly duplicate each other in respect to information about impaired credit assets. As a result, an itemization available within one system is largely compatible with breakdown data reported in another system.

For instance, if combined across the three systems, the value of impaired assets net of collateral (guarantees) and broken down by classification category is available in 87% cases for banks, 65% cases for credit associations, and 77% cases for credit cooperatives. And the availability is higher than the figures reported in Table 6 for each system separately. The same is true about the magnitude of expected losses from impaired assets: A breakdown of specific ADL by classification category is available for the banks, associations and cooperatives in 93%, 64%, and 77% cases, correspondingly.⁴²

In sum, the survey suggests that the Japanese banking industry delivers a large flow of financial information. This is a result of the present mandatory disclosure regime that sets up specific types of required disclosures. Indirectly, the system also induces incentives to make public additional information, which could augment the mandatory NPL figures and make them better reflecting the true loss exposure. The disclosures are rather uniform across individual organizations and generally supply market participants with sufficient information about the magnitude of losses expected from impaired credit assets. By comparison, the disclosures of forward-looking information, which is related to the probability and magnitude of losses expected from the non-impaired asset portfolio, are shown to be much scarcer or absent. Thus, the survey results suggest likely directions to enhance the existing disclosure regime of the Japanese banking.

4-2. Determinants of disclosure

The survey also sheds some light upon the factors driving the disclosure decisions of individual banking organizations. To explore in this direction, we constructed a composite disclosure index by weighting the surveyed disclosures in accordance with their importance for making public the needed information on credit risk. There are two variants of the index: One covers all relevant information first separately in disclosure reports and in business result briefs,

⁴¹ This aspect is apparently neglected by the banking community as well: The banks seem to make public a breakdown of their loans and bills by remaining maturity simply because it is mandatory in the disclosure reports, and completely ignore this information in business result briefs.

⁴² At the same time, the information reported for impaired assets may be insufficient if one wants to leverage it for inferences about future credit losses: Only a quarter of the banks and none of the credit associations and cooperatives disclose data on the amount of credit impaired during the reporting period. Similarly, by-period breakdowns are present only in a limited number of cases for collection performance, and they are virtually unavailable for the incidence of impairment (the number of defaults).

and then combined over the two sources. Another covers only voluntary disclosures in the reports and excludes the mandatory figures set up in by-laws.

Table 5 summarizes resulting credit disclosure scores (CDS) of commercial banks and credit associations. *SCORE-D* shows individual CDSs for all information in disclosure reports, *SCORE-V* – for voluntary information in disclosure reports, *SCORE-T* – for all information in business result briefs, and *SCORE-C* – for all information in the reports and briefs combined.

As reviewed in Frolov (2004b), the economic literature views a firm's decision to disclose its private information as based on weighting of expected costs and benefits for making the information public; so that, differences observed in disclosure policies across firms are usually explained by underlying dissimilarities in the firm-specific costs and benefits. On the benefit side of disclosure a list of suggested motives includes: reducing the information-asymmetry component of the funding cost, signaling to the market about superior business capacity of the firm or its management, avoiding possible litigation or regulatory costs. On the other hand, disclosure-related costs include: losses from sharing proprietary information with competitors, additional funding costs due to the market's uncertainty about the quality of released information, costs due to institutional factors, etc.

All the motives are generally valid for banking firms, but their relative strength may be affected by the presence of the financial safety net. Deposit insurance and other forms of protection remove the depositors' incentive to run on banks at first signs of problems by shielding them from direct losses on deposited money. As a result, the banking industry becomes more stable. But an average bank creditor gets paying much less attention to the risk of a bank's failure, and the relative reduction in the funding costs, with which banks are rewarded for good disclosure, becomes smaller. If the benefit of disclosure is marginal, then differences across banks in their disclosure decisions are likely to be predominantly driven by the firm-specific levels of disclosure-related costs.⁴³

To explore CDS dynamics across banking organizations we test several factors which may underlie differences in the disclosure-related costs and benefits among banks. Our choice of factors to be tested relies on the understanding of the present Japanese disclosure regime developed in this report. Important insights into the determinants of bank disclosure are also due to a recent study by Spiegel and Yamori (2003).⁴⁴

First, we test the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis I: Banking organizations with relatively complex business activities disclose more information.

⁴³ Certainly, the benefits of disclosure do not disappear completely, because even insured depositors may still face some indirect losses from their bank's failure, and thus less solvent banks may have to pay higher interest rates to prevent the depositors from gradually shifting to sounder banks. Nevertheless, it is unclear whether such market discipline is still sufficiently strong to assure adequate voluntary disclosure by banks, and the problem needs empirical testing.

⁴⁴ Spiegel and Yamori (2003) explored factors, which determined the decisions of credit associations to voluntarily disclose their NPL figures in 1996-7.

This is a general requirement to banking disclosure articulated, e.g., by BCBS (2000). To test the hypothesis, we assume that the complexity is roughly proportional to the size of credit exposure and introduce a variable reflecting the size of credit portfolios (*CRED*). The variable is expected to have a positive statistical association with the CDSs due to two reasons. First, as banks' business grows large and complex, the organizations become less transparent for bank outsiders and may face greater disclosure pressure from their creditors, depositors, industry analysts, and other market participants. Second, the complexity of the large banks may trigger stronger regulatory pressure.

Second, we look into the role played in disclosure decisions by differences in the financial condition of banks. The present disclosure regime assures that the bank creditors can make rough inferences about a bank's financial condition by observing the level of regulatory capital or non-performing loans. Still, both indicators mostly reflect losses from impaired loans and deliver just vague signals about future losses from sound loans. Thus by disclosing more forward-looking information, the bank can signal the market about its future performance. A strong need of such signaling may arise when the current performance is poor and the bank wants to show the market that this is just due to temporal factors and the performance will recover in the future. By comparison, the need may be weaker in case of good current performance. Hence, assuming that at least some of the poorly performing banks have bright chances of future recovery, one may expect a tendency to a negative association between the current financial condition of banks and the level of their disclosure effort.

Such a tendency can be observed only if the improved disclosure brings more additional benefits to the poor-performers than additional costs. The cost-side effect, however, may also be substantial when banks are in poor financial condition. For instance, banks with marginal capital adequacy are likely to be strongly concerned with the risk of regulatory costs in case of failing to comply with the capital requirement. Since greater disclosure implies greater possibility of being (at lest temporarily) unfavorably misinterpreted by the market, it can easily drive the capital below the required minimum. In these circumstances, the marginally capitalized banks are likely to apply a larger weight to the regulatory costs when deciding on the extent of disclosure.

-

⁴⁵ Spiegel and Yamori (2003) also list other two reasons. On the one hand, they suggest that larger credit associations may face greater disclosure pressure from their depositors because they usually operate in more financially-sophisticated environments than smaller associations, and their customers are more often approached by commercial bank competitors. On the other hand, Spiegel and Yamori (2003) note that there may be the economies of scale effect in preparing disclosure information. We do not associate either explanation with *CRED*, because (1) the market competition effect, in our opinion, should be accounted for by a separate variable, and (2) the economies of scale argument is not very relevant, as all the banking organizations in Japan must prepare much the same information for their regulatory reports filed with the authorities.

⁴⁶ A basis for such pressure is laid down in the banking legislation. In addition to the mandatory types of disclosure, Art. 21 Para. 4 of the Banking Law also stipulates banks shall disclose other information about their business and financial condition, which depositors should be aware of. Although this is clearly a declarative requirement and it may not necessarily lead to an explicit regulatory action, still it can, for instance, indirectly pressure large banks into adopting an enhanced group-wide disclosure standard.

Table 5. Statistical analysis of credit risk disclosure by Japanese banking organizations: Selected results $^{\rm I}$

De	escriptive Statistics							
				Banks	and Credit		ombined	
						cial Banks	D 0.1	Credit
					City (CITYB=1)	Regional	Reg. 2nd $(REGB2=1)$	Assocs. (SHINK=1)
	Disclosure	(Mean)	11.10	12.36	13.94	12.47	11.89	10.10
e	Reports (SCORE-D)	(Std. Dev.) (No. Obs.)	1.72 253	1.54 112	1.82	1.51 62	1.30 42	1.07 141
Scor	Disclosure	(Mean)	4.12	5.13	7.31	5.52	4.13	3.32
ure	Reports Voluntary (SCORE-V)	(Std. Dev.)	2.13	2.40	2.96	2.31	1.98	1.45
Credit Disclosure Score	(SCORE-V)	(No. Obs.)	253	112	8	62	42	141
Dis	Business Result	(Mean) (Std. Dev.)	_	10.79 2.19	12.50 0.96	11.16 2.05	9.97 2.25	_
edit	Briefs (SCORE-T)	(No. Obs.)	_	117	8	64	45	_
Ċ	Combined Score	(Mean)	_	14.55	16.13	14.72	13.95	_
	(SCORE-C)	(Std. Dev.) (No. Obs.)	_	1.84 109	1.06 8	1.79 62	1.83	_
Cri	edit Assets (<i>CRED</i>)	(Mean)	1203.6	3841.7	31070.8	2148.2	1776.5	192.1
	¥ billion	(Std. Dev.) (No. Obs.)	5373.5 451	9742.0 125	20075.9 8	1450.0 64	6897.2 53	259.5 326
	Cagag with	(Mean)	2024.6	4219.5	31070.8	2191.0	2099.3	281.2
	Cases with available	(Std. Dev.)	7070.4	10228.7	20075.9	1451.2	7733.1	339.2
	disclosure reports	(No. Obs.)	253	112	8	62	42	141
	Cases with available business	(Mean) (Std. Dev.)	_	4058.5 10035.1	31070.8 20075.9	2148.2 1450.0	1973.2 7479.2	_
	result briefs	(No. Obs.)	_	117	8	64	45	
Ca	pital (CAP-03)	(Mean) (Std. Dev.)	10.63 3.94	8.88 1.87	9.20 3.17	9.53 1.68	8.05 1.51	11.30 4.31
in	%	(No. Obs.)	451	125	8	64	53	326
	Cases with	(Mean)	10.33	8.93	9.20	9.53	7.98	11.45
	available disclosure reports	(Std. Dev.) (No. Obs.)	3.86 253	1.91 112	3.17	1.70 62	1.54 42	4.59 141
	1	(Mean)	233	8.85	9.20	9.53	7.82	141
	Cases with available business	(Std. Dev.)		1.90	3.17	1.68	1.46	_
	result briefs	(No. Obs.)	_	117	8	64	45	
						2		
Bi	variate Correlation		arson cor	relation co	pefficients,			
SCO	$ORE-V \times SCORE-T$	(Coeffic.) (No. Obs.)	_	0.292*** 109	0.951*** 8	0.238** 62	0.007 39	_
0.0		(Coeffic.)	0.533***	0.432***	0.259	0.219**	0.369***	0.265***
SC	$ORE-V \times LCRED$	(No. Obs.)	253	112	8	62	42	141
SC	ORE-V × CAP-03	(Coeffic.)	-0.083* 253	0.165** 112	-0.051 8	0.105 62	0.022 42	0.034 141
		(No. Obs.) (Coeffic.)	233	0.194**	0.159	0.021	-0.119	141
SC	ORE - $T \times LCRED$	(No. Obs.)	_	117	8	64	45	_
SC	ORE-T × CAP-03	(Coeffic.)	_	0.282***	0.017	0.219**	0.205*	_
SC	OILL I ·· CAI -VJ	(No. Obs.)		117	8	64	45	0.100***
LC	$CRED \times CAP-03$	(Coeffic.) (No. Obs.)	-0.280*** 451	0.242***	-0.120 8	0.170* 64	0.138 53	-0.198*** 326
		(110. 003.)	TJ 1	143	· ·	U-T	55	320

Table 5. (concluded)

Regression Analysis (Ordinary Least Sq			
	(I) ⁴	(II) ^{4,5}	(III) ⁶	(IV) ⁶
Regressors:	Depe	ndent Variable: SCC	PRE-V	D.V.: SCORE-T
(Constant)	-3.9428 [.280]	-25.2687 [.149]	-2.1375 [.407]	10.1568 [.000]
LCRED	0.8662 [.011]	2.5314 [.100]	0.7250 [.004]	-0.1476 [.536]
CAP03	0.0575 [.089]	0.1839 [.111]	0.0288 [.790]	0.2371 [.024]
SHINK	-1.5047 [.008]	_	_	_
CITYB	-0.4544 [.708]	_	-0.0700 [.952]	1.8329 [.008]
REGB2	-1.0099 [.022]	_	-0.7186 [.153]	-0.9157 [.044]
COM1	0.4508 [.151]	1.1828 [.141]	0.4857 [.317]	0.3842 [.469]
COM2	0.5258 [.081]	2.1776 [.068]	0.3438 [.526]	0.14257 [.787]
Adjusted R-squared	0.3013	0.0914	0.1682	0.1064
F (zero slopes)	14.5813 [.000]	3.8169 [.003]	4.7405 [.000]	3.3028 [.005]
No. observations	253	141	112	117

1. For variable definitions and data sources refer to Data Appendix.
2. *, ** and *** indicate (one-tailed) significance levels of 10, 5 and 1 percent respectively.
3. P-values (based on heteroscedastic-consistent errors) are in parentheses.

4. Corrected for a sample selection bias using the Heckman (two-step) procedure.

5 Estimated over credit association cases.

6 Estimated over commercial bank cases.

The relative strength of the benefit and cost sides of enhanced disclosure for financially weak banks is unclear a priori. Accordingly, we construct two competing hypotheses:

Hypothesis II: Banking organizations in poor financial condition disclose more information as compared to those in sound financial condition.

Hypothesis III: Banking organizations in poor financial condition disclose less information as compared to those in good financial condition.

To test the role of differences in the financial strength of banks, here we employ the capital adequacy ratio (CAP-03) as an indicator of financial condition. If we find an inverse association between CAP-03 and the CDSs, then it will support Hypothesis II, whereas a positive association will bear witness to Hypothesis III.

Testing the hypotheses may have important implications for the design of the national disclosure regime: If we find support in favor of the former hypothesis (and against the latter one), it will indicate the presence of market discipline which is sufficiently strong to build the national disclosure regime on the basis of voluntary disclosures. If we obtain evidence to the contrary, then mandatory disclosures should prevail as a basis for an effective disclosure regime.

Third, we follow Spiegel and Yamori (2003) and test whether disclosure decisions are driven by the intensity of local market competition. That is, if disclosures are strongly demanded by bank customers, then they become a factor of competition, and banks, which face regional markets with relatively strong competition for customer, are likely to disclose more information than those in less competitive markets. Conversely, no difference in disclosures of banks with core markets in high and low competition areas can be seen as an indication that the disclosures are not very important when competing for local (retail) customer. A corresponding hypothesis to test is:

Hypothesis VI: Banking organizations with core business in high-competition markets disclose more information than banking organizations positioned in low-competition markets.

To test the hypothesis we rely on results by Kano and Tsutsui (2003) in a study of the geographic segmentation of Japan's loan market. In particular, the authors report differentials of risk-adjusted interest rates on loans observed among regional banks and credit associations grouped by prefecture. Although the data is originally intended to test geographic segmentation in the loan market, it can also be used as an indicator of competition level: Prefectures with low (risk adjusted) interest rates can be assumed belonging to a high competition zone, and prefectures with high interest rates – to a low competition zone. Based on the data, we construct dummy variables for the low and high competition zones (*COM1* and *COM2*) and expect them to exhibit correspondingly negative and positive association with the CDSs.⁴⁷

Finally, disclosure decisions of individual banking organizations may be influenced by factors specific to a sectoral industry group the organizations belong to. The argument of group-specific levels of disclosure assumes that the disclosure-related costs and benefits of members of one group are different from those of the other groups *due to specific factors*. Examples of such factors include (1) higher (lower) demand for information a group faces because either its business is intrinsically more (less) opaque and volatile that that of the other groups, or the group has characteristic customers; (2) a strong (weak) market power members of a group can enjoy because of their special status or specific market structure; (3) special regulatory treatment and associated costs a group faces, etc. The relative strength of the factors in shaping disclosure-related costs and benefits is unclear *a priori*. Hence, one may test only a hypothesis about the *presence* of group-specific levels of disclosure:

Hypothesis V: Banking organizations belonging to a sectoral industry group have disclosure levels specific to the group.

In Japan, the most notable examples of such groups are the sectoral organizations of bankers, such as the (First) Association of Regional Banks, the Second Association of Regional Banks, the Association of *Shinkin* Banks, etc. And we test Hypothesis V by introducing dummy variables for group membership (*SHINK*, *CITYB*, *REGB2*). If regression coefficients for the

_

⁴⁷ In addition, we also follow Kano and Tsutsui (2003) and introduce a dummy variable (*COM3*) for prefectures belonging to a highly urbanized geographic zone with extended branch network of large (city) banks. The variable is expected to behave similarly to *COM2*.

dummies are significant statistically, then the result may indicate the presence of disclosure levels specific to the groups.

The statistical analysis results reported in Table 5⁴⁸ deliver two notable observations about the data. First, for all the types of CDS (*SCORE-D*, *SCORE-V*, *SCORE-T*, and *SCORE-C*) there are clear differences across sectoral industry groups: The absolute level of disclosure changes from the highest (group-average) score of the city banks to the lowest (group-average) score of the credit associations.⁴⁹ The observed tendency does not necessarily indicate the presence of group-specific factors in disclosure determinants, but it strongly suggests testing the possibility.

Second, the disclosure policy of some banks in the business result briefs is inconsistent with their policy in the disclosure reports: The correlation coefficient for *SCORE-V* and *SCORE-T* is generally low and turns insignificant for smaller banks.⁵⁰ The tendency indicates that for each of the two disclosure tools, the banks' decisions on what information to make public are shaped by different sets of factors.

The regression analysis over the entire sample (Regression I in Table 5) shows that after controlling for possible sample-selection bias, the SCDs of the disclosure reports (SCORE-V) exhibit significant positive association with the size of credit portfolio (LCRED). Hence, the result supports Hypothesis I that banking organizations disclose more information as their businesses grow complex.

The capital adequacy level (*CAP-03*) returns a positive sign, and the result is generally consistent over all other specifications. The positive sign indicates that banks with better financial condition are more willing to disclose.⁵¹ The finding runs against Hypothesis II that banking organizations with poor financial condition disclose more, and instead supports the opposite view of Hypothesis III. Accordingly, the observed effect should be interpreted that when marginally sound, banks become averse to enhancing disclosure above the required minimum, because it means taking the risk of additional regulatory costs due to increased information noise. Furthermore, the finding suggests that when information is made public via the disclosure reports, the resulting market discipline is too weak to build the national disclosure

_

 $^{^{\}rm 48}$ For complete results, refer to Table A1 of Data Appendix.

⁴⁹ Certainly, this is just a general tendency, and the situation on the level of individual banking organizations is far less clear. For instance, the best performer among the credit associations has a non-mandatory disclosure report score (*SCORE-V*) as much as 12.5% higher than that of the best performers among the members of the Second Regional Bank Association. The same is true about disclosures in the business result briefs (*SCORE-T*): The best performers among the "first" and "second" regional banks deliver as much as 15% and 11% more information than the best performers among the city banks.

⁵⁰ When controlling for the size effect, the (partial) correlation coefficient declines even further – to 20%. ⁵¹ Although different in interpretation, the result is also consistent with the finding of Spiegel and Yamori (2003) that sound credit associations are more willing to disclose voluntarily than less sound associations. A similar observation is made by Nier and Baumann (2003), who find a positive association between the degree of disclosure and the level of capital adequacy over a large international panel dataset of individual banking organizations.

regime on the basis of voluntary actions of banking organizations. In addition, the evidence of weak market discipline indicates that the above-noted positive association between *SCORE-V* and *LCRED* should rather be explained by regulatory than market pressures.

Segmentation by the level of competition for customer, however, delivers far more ambiguous results: Although the sign for the high competition zone (*COM2*) is positive as expected, it is only 8% significant. Plus, a dummy for the low competition zone (*COM1*) is also positive, thus, contradicting the intended logic that the higher local customer competition, the more enhanced disclosure. The effect for the high competition zone is slightly more significant over the credit association cases, but disappears over the commercial bank cases. The general insignificance of the competition dummies can be explained as failure to reflect the true geographic segmentation by level of competition in the retail market.⁵² But alternatively it can also be regarded as circumstantial evidence rejecting Hypothesis IV and suggesting instead that disclosure reports are unimportant as a factor of competition for customer.⁵³

Dummy variables for the cases of credit associations (*SHINK*) and for those of the members of the second regional bank association (*REGB2*) both have statistically significant coefficients with negative signs. The coefficients, however, turn insignificant if control for the effects of size, financial condition, and customer competition level within each group.⁵⁴ Hence, the regression analysis results are too weak as a support for Hypothesis V. Considering the above-observed weak demand for information in the disclosure reports and relative unimportance of the disclosures for local market competition, the result may also be interpreted as no strong evidence that the authorities' special regulatory treatment of the sectoral industry groups induces differences in disclosure.

Separate estimations over the credit association cases (Regression II) and commercial bank cases (Regression III) show that the CDSs of disclosure reports by the associations exhibit less stable statistical links with the size of credit assets than those of disclosure reports by the banks. The tendency can be explained in line with Hypothesis I – by the fact that the associations are focused on local business transactions with small customers, and thus as a group have rather simple businesses; but the banks, and especially large ones, are engaged in far more complex financial transactions.

-

⁵² One possible concern is that the results of Kano and Tsutsui (2003) we rely upon are structured by prefecture. The majority of credit associations, however, have their business operation areas smaller than a prefecture. Hence *COM1* and *COM2* may fail to reflect the true segmentation. Another potential problem is that the original data of Kano and Tsutsui (2003) is for 1996, but all other data used in the study reflect situation at the end of FY 2002. Since 1997-2002 are the years when the banking crisis went into an acute stage and the banking industry experienced a sharp wave of restructuring, the segmentation dummies may be too outdated.

⁵³ Spiegel and Yamori (2003) use a different variable for the level of competition (the ratio of a prefecture's GDP over the number of bank branches located in it) and get 10%-significant estimates over the 1997 sample. They interpret the result as suggesting that competition promotes bank disclosures. Still the result seems to be somewhat unstable as it turns insignificant over the 1996 sample.

⁵⁴ Regressions that include the cross-products of *SHINK* and *REGB2* with *LCRED*, *CAP03*, and the competition dummies are reported in Data Appendix

The estimation results for the CDSs of the business result briefs (Regression IV) indicate important differences of this disclosure tool as compared to the disclosure reports. Unlike Regression III, the score (SCORE-T) is significantly associated with the capital adequacy level (CAP03) and exhibits no significant link with the size of credit assets (LCRED).

The positive sign of *CAP-03* supports Hypothesis III and indicates that the market discipline induced by the business result briefs is also too weak to build a voluntary disclosure regime on its basis.

If combined, however, with the lack of such statistical association in the case of the disclosure report scores (in Regression III), the result also suggests that the business result briefs are relatively more driven by the information demand of market participants. To explain the tendency, one needs to consider that the disclosure reports are targeted at ordinary depositors – financially unsophisticated and yet publicly protected investors; and the business result briefs are published for the use of the entire investor community, including sophisticated and mostly unprotected investors. Since the capital adequacy level is an important indicator of banks' riskiness, the weak association of *CAP-03* with *SCORE-V* and strong association with *SCORE-T* indirectly suggest that the disclosure demand of targeted information users of the reports is weak, and that of targeted users of the briefs is relatively strong. And this seems to be quite natural if consider that the former users are publicly protected from the risk of bank failure and the latter ones are not necessarily protected.⁵⁵

To sum up, the statistical analysis of credit disclosure scores suggests that disclosure via both the disclosure reports and business result briefs does not generate adequate benefits for banks. Consequently, voluntary disclosures are unattractive when a banking organization is financially weak and thus especially vulnerable to the risk of being adversely misinterpreted by the market. The result indicates that given the present degree of protection of banks' creditors by the financial safety net, the voluntary disclosures are unlikely to lead to a situation when market participants have all the needed information about the credit risk of individual banking organizations.

Another finding of the analysis is that the business result briefs are relatively more driven by the information demand of market participants, whereas the content of the disclosure reports seems to be predominantly shaped by the official requirements to banking organizations. The finding points out that information supplied via the disclosure reports lacks feedback from information users.

⁵⁵ The strong statistical association of *SCORE-V* with *LCRED* can be understood as a result of regulatory pressures on more complex banks to disclose additional information.

V. Directions to enhance credit risk disclosures: A proposal

In the preceding sections of the report, the discussion of credit risk disclosure in the Japanese banking system has so far determined the strong and weak sides of the present disclosure regime and highlighted factors which determine the flow of information disclosed by the industry. In this section we shall build on these results and develop a proposal on how to enhance the present regime in order to bring it closer to the recommendations of the new Basel Accord.

As shown in the previous section, the present disclosure regime delivers a large volume of uniformly itemized information about the financial condition of individual banking organizations. Some of the information is made public voluntarily, but core disclosures are apparently assured by the mandatory nature of the present disclosure regime. The statistical analysis of disclosures on the level of individual organizations has confirmed that in the present financial environment the market discipline factor is too weak to make banks disclosing all material information the market participants need. The evidence leads us to believe that *the mandatory disclosure principle should remain an effective basis of the disclosure regime in the future*. ⁵⁶

Mandatory disclosures, however, have their own weaknesses: On the one hand, the fixed format of the regulatory disclosures does not easily accommodate new issues as they develop. On the other hand, in setting disclosure requirements the regulators cannot easily rely on market consensus on information needed, because disclosing banks and the users of information are deeply divided on where to draw a borderline between proprietary and non-proprietary information, and as a result it is typically unclear whether or not given disclosure requirements are good and efficient.

Japan's experience with mandatory disclosures for banks since 1982 supports the concern: As discussed above, before the mid-1990s the disclosures were cautious and generally insufficient for assessing a bank's financial condition, because the requirements were developed inside the banking industry. During the last decade, however, the industry has lost the lead, and the disclosure regime has become excessively focused on the NPL figures, which may be misleading if used to assess the financial condition of individual banks.

The experience implies that a mechanism of consensus-making over desirable disclosures has to become an explicit integral part of the mandatory disclosure regime. At present, some sort of consensus-making in the field is conducted through the deliberations in the FSRC. Still the issue of desirable disclosures in banking is far away from the focal point of regular discussions, and the FSRC's inquiries never go to detailed suggestions on disclosure requirements. Instead, the disclosure regime needs a specialized consultative body that, ideally,

requirements for banks may need to be further extended.

⁵⁶ Although on different grounds, other observers also arrive at a similar conclusion. For instance, Shiba (1996) asserts that unlike Western firms, Japanese companies tend to see institutionalized disclosures as maximum requirements and not to go beyond them. Hence, to achieve the same flow of information as that produced by voluntary disclosures of the Western firms, the present mandatory disclosure

should (1) include both bankers and first-hand users of the disclosed information, such as market analysts, rating agencies, and institutional investors, (2) have regularly scheduled inquiries in the adequacy and appropriateness of specific mandatory disclosures and related rules.

The discussion above also indicates that the way disclosed information is channeled to its users can be greatly improved. At present, the banking-specific mandatory disclosures in Japan predominantly rely on the form of hard-copy disclosure reports intended for in-branch inspection by the depositors. The approach has two obvious problems: On the one hand, small publicly-protected depositors normally lack incentives for comprehending the diverse quantitative information contained in the disclosure reports; they rarely demand the reports, and at most look through their leaflet-type briefs. On the other hand, banking quantitative disclosures, by their nature, need to be compared across multiple organizations, but the information of disclosure reports is decentralized and thus costly to obtain.

A likely solution to the problem can be inferred from the recent experience with filing the securities reports via the EDINET. The past three years of the centralized electronic publishing of the reports suggest that given the universal spread of personal computers (1) limited availability of information on hard-copy media does not necessarily reduce the accessibility of the information for users, (2) the centralized storage of information in an electronic form enables cost-efficient access to the information, and (3) filing quantitative data electronically according to a fixed format does not preclude from supplying the numbers with additional qualitative and quantitative information deemed necessary to correctly comprehend them. Accordingly, the efficiency of the mandatory disclosure reports will improve if the legal requirement to keep them available for in-branch public inspection is relaxed under the condition of filing the reports electronically with a publicly accessible centralized storage.⁵⁷

Table 6 summarizes our suggestion of the specific types of quantitative credit risk information to be disclosed by banking organizations. Based on the discussion in this report, we believe that the suggested information is likely to be deemed material by investors concerned with inferring changes in the economic value of a bank's credit asset portfolio. The suggestion also satisfies the basic principle of banking disclosure that proprietary information of banks should not be made public. It is so since we do not suggest banks to disclose price information disaggregated to a larger extent than that of the credit risk data publicly available in the market from private information vendors.⁵⁸

_

⁵⁷ The US experience with banking disclosures suggests another solution. In particular, instead of bringing the disclosure reports to an EDINET-like filing system, publication of the reports can be abandoned at all, and the required information can be made available to the public as the authorities disclose related parts of banks' regulatory reports. Since the regulatory reports in Japan are filed electronically, the solution may be equally cost-effective. An apparent problem of the approach is that banking organizations become relatively restricted in supplying the users of the disclosed numbers with complementary qualitative information.

⁵⁸ For instance, from the Credit Risk Database (CRD) Project.

The suggestion consists of core and supplementary information needs. The core disclosures include information, which is essential for monitoring the economic value of a bank's credit portfolio and thus should be mandatory for all banking organizations. The supplementary disclosures encompass data, which gives additional precision and detail to the core disclosures and, accordingly, is expected to be made public by banks with more complex portfolios. The suggested itemization of the data focuses mostly on breakdowns by industry (economic sector) and by borrower size. These breakdowns are, in our view, the shortest way to pick up risk-factor homogeneous groups in banking portfolios while keeping the data comparable across banks and minimizing additional data-preparation efforts required from the banks.

When compared to the present disclosure requirements, the suggested quantitative disclosures have important improvements. First, they give a uniform itemization to both credit exposures and credit losses – a feature absent in the present requirements.

Second, a breakdown by borrower risk category is based entirely on the Self-Assessment Framework (SAF) classification system, which is more precise and closer to the real risk management practices of banks than the other two asset classification systems. Another benefit is that the SAF classification allows no imbalance between impaired and non-impaired exposures in respect to disclosed information.

Third, the data on the number of stand-alone exposures and their distribution by size address the concern about the comparability of bank portfolio figures across many organizations. Given a relatively short track-record, the feature can allow market participants to approximate by-segment loss distributions for credit assets of individual banks and, thus, improve their ability to correctly interpret jumps they observe in the banks' credit losses. The feature is likely to be equally important for the bank's ability to convincingly explain deviations of their ex-ante loss estimates from ex-post (realized) loss figures.

Finally, the disclosures include three types of forward-looking indicators of credit losses: direct loss estimates, loss provisioning rates, and effective interest rates on new advances. All the three may be somewhat biased – either because of *de facto* regulatory policies, or the banks' number management, or their emphasis on relationship lending – and their combination can improve the reliability of forward-looking information.

Qualitative disclosures represent another integral part of an effective disclosure regime in banking. At present, Japanese banking organizations universally make public definitions of risk classification categories and information about their in-house risk management systems. Some of them also disclose loss provisioning criteria. In general, however, the available information about the criteria of risk classification and loss provisioning is insufficient for an outside observer to fully understand a bank's policies concerning non-impaired credit exposures. The deficiency is indirectly alleviated by the strict and uniform enforcement of the authorities' view on appropriate asset classification and provisioning policies during the regulatory inspections

and off-site examinations. Still, disclosing more details on the classification and provisioning criteria for non-impaired exposures is a suggestible direction for improvement.

Table 6. Suggested requirements to credit risk (quantitative information)

1. 1	1	T		• 4•
disclosure	hv	Jananese	hanking	organizations
uisciosuic	D.y	vapanese	vanking	oi gamizations

uisei		•	emization	Juliki	8 8		e of osure	Number of stand- alone exposures	Distribution by size of stand-alone exps		ed-rate osures	ed (estima- s rate	nce for il loans	Effective interest rate	Effective funding cost	valu	raisal le of teral / intees	Cumulative collection performance
						end of period	period average	Numbe alone e	Distrib of stanc	size	prevail. maturity /duration	Expected (e ted) loss rate	Allowance for doubtful loans	Effectiv rate	Effectiv cost	total	by type	Cumula ion perf
osure	ills	Individuals and small businesses	Domestic Foreign	by sect	or /industry by region on	•	•	•	•	•	•	•			•		•	
Total credit exposure	Loans and bills	Medium /large	Domestic	by regi	or /industry by region on or /borrower	•	• •	•	0	•	•	•					•	
Tc		borrowers	Foreign	type by regi	by region on / country	•	• •	•		•	•						O	
	Exp	osures other th	nan loans ar	nd bills		•	•	•		•	•	0						
vers		Individuals and small	Domestic	by sect	or /industry incl. new by region incl. new	• 0							•	• 0		•		
d borrov	bills	businesses	Foreign	incl. N		0							0	0		0		
Exposure to sound borrowers	Loans and bills	Medium /large	Domestic		or /industry incl. new by region incl. new	• 0							•	• 0		•		
Ex	-	borrowers	Foreign	by sector /bor- rower type	by region incl. new	0 0							0	• • •		0		
	Exp	osures other th	nan ioans ar	ia bilis		•							•			•		
rowers d special	bills	Individuals and small businesses	Domestic	by sect	or /industry on	0							0			0		
Exposure to need attention borrowers other than need special attention	Loans and bills	Medium /large borrowers	Foreign Domestic	by sect	or /industry on	0 0							0			0		
att othe			Foreign			0							0			0		
	Exp	osures other th	nan loans ar	id bills		•							0			•		
ed special rowers	bills	Individuals and small businesses	Domestic	by sect	or /industry on	0							0			0		
Exposure to need special attention borrowers	Loans and bills	Medium /large	Foreign Domestic	by sect	or /industry	0 0							0			0		
Expos	I	borrowers	Foreign	, 0		0							0			0		
I	Exp	osures other th	nan loans ar	nd bills		0				,			0			0		

Table 6. (concluded)

		i	emization			e of osure	stand-	n by size one exps		d-rate sures	(estima- ite	for	nterest	unding	valu	raisal ne of teral / antees	e collect- nance
		10	cinization		end of period	period average	Number of standalone exposures	Distribution by size of stand-alone exps	size	prevail. maturity /duration	Expected (estima- ted) loss rate	Allowance for doubtful loans	Effective interest rate	Effective funding cost	total	by type	Cumulative collection performance
_		T			•							•			•		
Exposure to borrowers in danger of bankruptey		Individuals	Domestic	by sector /industry	0							0			0		
wei	IIIs	and small businesses		by region	0												
orro	Loans and bills		Foreign		0							0			0		
o po f ba	san		Domestic	by sector /industry	0							0			0		
ire t er o	ans	Medium /large	Domestic	by region	0												
osn	Г	borrowers	Faraian	by sector /borrower type	0							0			0		
EX			Foreign	by region / country	0												
	Exp	osures other the	han loans ar	nd bills	0							0			0		
												•			•		
			by period	of impairment													•
/ers			Domestic	by sector /industry by period of impairment incl. new	0							•			•		0
upt borrow		Individuals and small businesses		by region by period of impairment incl. new	0												
to bankı	lls		Foreign	by period of impairm-t incl. New	•							0			0		0
and de fac	Loans and bills			by sector /industry by period of impairment incl. new	•							•			•		0
Exposure to bankrupt and de facto bankrupt borrowers	L	Medium /large	Domestic	by region by period of impairment incl. New	•												
Exposure		borrowers	Foreign	by sector /borrower type by period of impairment incl. new by region / country	• •							0			0		0
	Eve	osures other the	nan loans ar	by period of impairment incl. new	0							0			0		0
1	Ľлр	osures omer t	nan ioans al	10 01113													

Note: • and ○ denote core and supplementary quantitative disclosures correspondingly.

Another important type of qualitative disclosures is explanatory information about by-period changes in expected (estimated) rates of credit losses. As argued above, banking organizations themselves are the best source of forward-looking credit-cost information, but by the nature of loss projections there will be inevitable errors and this may question the reliability of the disclosures in the market's eyes. The best way to remove the suspicion is to show the market participants the particular assumptions and procedures the estimates are developed, indicate the significance intervals of the estimates, and explain what went wrong if there are too large deviations from the expected levels.

VI. Summary and concluding remarks

The report has reviewed the disclosure practices of Japanese banking organizations and analyzed the quality of disclosed information about the banks' lending assets. The investigation has revealed the strong and weak sides of the present disclosure regime and delivered important insights into determinants of the banks' disclosure activities. The results have lead to the formulation of specific suggestions on what is needed to improve bank transparency in lending activities.

The study has showed that banking organizations in Japan disclose information through multiple channels including the disclosure reports, securities reports, business result briefs, and company presentation meeting. Information releases via the disclosure and securities reports follow mandated rules set up in by-laws, and the other two channels convey information disclosed largely on a voluntary basis. Banking organizations have relatively weak incentives for voluntary disclosure in the mandatory (disclosure) reports, because they are targeted mostly at protected creditors and typically require much time and effort to be used for comparison across multiple organizations. Unlike the reports, the business result briefs are less costly in use, and they have recently become the main channel of voluntary disclosures the commercial banks rely on in managing mass-media and reputation risks. The credit associations and cooperatives, however, do not typically have unprotected creditors. For that reason, they disclose only through the mandatory (disclosure) reports, and the total flow of information they make open to the market falls far behind that of the commercial banks.

The discussion of conventional indicators of bank credit quality has revealed their role in the present disclosure regime. We see the system placing strong emphasis on information about non-performing loans. The information is largely consistent across banking organizations, takes explicit account of collateral and guarantees, and is directly linked to the structure of the loss provisioning system. These properties and the recent efforts of the authorities to enforce strict loan classification seem to alleviate the long-standing concern about underprovisioning in Japanese banks. Unlike, the NPL figures, the loss provisioning rates receive far less attention. Furthermore, in the present provisioning framework they are strongly tied to the historical loss experience. As a result the value of provisioning rate disclosures as a source of information about expected credit losses is reduced.

To gain insights into disclosure activities on the level of individual banks, we have surveyed the disclosure reports and business result briefs of over 250 banking organizations. The availability analysis of information on portfolio credit risk suggests that the presence of specific data requirements in the nation's mandatory disclosure regime ensures that the banking industry delivers a relatively large flow of financial information. The disclosures are rather uniform across individual organizations and generally supply market participants with sufficient information about the magnitude of losses expected from impaired credit assets. By comparison, the disclosures of forward-looking information, which is related to the probability and

magnitude of losses expected from the non-impaired asset portfolio, are shown to be much scarcer or absent.

Further statistical analysis of survey results has shed some light upon the determinants of disclosure decisions of Japanese banks. For both the disclosure reports and business result briefs, we find voluntary disclosures unattractive to financially weak banks. Thereby, we conclude that given the present degree of protection of the bank creditors by the nation's financial safety net, the voluntary disclosures are unlikely to lead to a situation when market participants have all the needed information about the credit risk of individual banking organizations. The analysis also confirms that the business result briefs are relatively more driven by the information demand of market participants, whereas the content of the disclosure reports is predominantly shaped by the official requirements and lacks feedback from the information users.

Based on the results, the study has arrived at specific suggestions on how to enhance bank credit disclosures. First, the weakened incentive for voluntary disclosure leads us to believe that the mandatory disclosure principle should remain an effective basis of the disclosure regime in the future. Second, considering the inherent weaknesses of mandated rules and the need of timely enhancement of existing regulations, we suggest that a mechanism of consensus-making over desirable disclosures has to become an explicit integral part of the mandatory disclosure regime. Third, we see the need to improve the cost-efficiency of disclosure tools and propose to employ electronic filing of the disclosure reports with a publicly accessible centralized storage. Finally, we prepare a list of specific quantitative and qualitative disclosure requirements aimed at augmenting and rebalancing the present rules toward enhanced disclosure of forward-looking information about future credit losses.

The report has so far analyzed the present state of credit risk disclosure in the Japanese banking and suggested ways to improve the existing disclosure regime. The results may become a natural input for the coming discussion of needed changes to the disclosure rules in connection with the new Basel (II) regulations. Being narrowly focused on the credit risk in traditional bank lending, our proposal is far from an exclusive list of needed changes in the nation's disclosure regime. Nevertheless, we believe that it lies at the heart of the solution to the current management problems of Japanese banking organizations.

References

- BCBS, 1998. *Enhancing bank Transparency*. Basel: Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (available at the BIS's HP).
- Bank of Japan, 2001. Developments in profits and balance sheets of Japanese banks in fiscal 2000 and banks' management tasks. *Bank of Japan Quarterly Bulletin* 9 (4), pp. 73-130.
- CAAC, 2003. *Kaigai Shokoku-no Kin'yu Kikan-ni Okeru Shokyaku Hikiate Seido Oyobi Jitsumujo-no Taio* (Systems and Business Practices in Loan Charge-off / Provisioning by Banks in Foreign Countries). Tokyo: ChuoAoyama Audit (in Japanese, available at the FSA's HP).
- Daigo, S., 1993. Reconsideration on the 'tax accounting-based business accounting' in Japan. *Hannan Ronshu (Shakai Kagaku-hen)* 28 (3), pp. 1-19 (in Japanese).
- FRC, 1999. The Viewpoint on the Write-offs and Allowances in Association with the Capital Injection. Tokyo: Financial Reconstruction Commission (available at the FSA's HP).
- FSA, 2004a. *Kin'yucho-no 1-Nen: Heisei 15 Jimu Nendoban* (Yearbook of the Financial Services Agency, Official Year 2003). Tokyo: Financial Services Agency (in Japanese, available at the FSA's HP).
- FSA, 2004b. *Yokinto Ukeire Kin'yu Kikan-ni Kakawaru Kensa Manyuaru* (Inspection Manual for Deposit-Taking Institutions). Tokyo: Financial Services Agency (in Japanese, an English translation of an earlier version is available at the FSA's HP).
- Frolov, M., 2004a. Bank credit disclosures: What is needed? *KUMQRP discussion paper* DP2004-009, Tokyo: Keio University.
- Frolov, M., 2004b. Why do we need mandated rules of public disclosure for banks? *KUMQRP discussion paper* DP2004-010, Tokyo: Keio University.
- Hamada, K., Matsumoto, K., 2002. Securities transaction law in general. In: Zentaro Kitazawa (ed.), *Doing Business in Japan*, Dayton, OH.: LexisNexis, Vol. 3, Part 8, Chapter 1.
- Hoshino, I., 1996. An overview of Japan's disclosure system for the non-performing loans of banks. *Kigyo Kaikei* 48 (2), pp. 121-128 (in Japanese).
- IMF, 2001. Japan: Economic and policy developments. *IMF Country Reports* 01/221. Washington, DC.: International Monetary Fund (available at the IMF's HP).
- JCIF, 2003. *Shogaikoku-ni Okeru Furyo Saiken Disukuroja-no Jokyo* (Situation in Non-performing Loan Disclosure in Some Foreign Countries). Tokyo: Japan Center for International Finance (in Japanese, available at the FSA's HP).
- JIRA, 2004. *Kigyo-no IR Katsudo-ni Kansuru Anketo* (A questionnaire about IR activities of firms). Tokyo: Japan Investor Relations Association (in Japanese).
- Kano, M., Tsutsui, Y., 2003. Geographical segmentation in Japanese bank loan markets. *Regional Science and Urban Economics* 33(2), pp.157-174.
- Nier, E., Baumann, U., 2003. Market discipline, disclosure and moral hazard in banking. A

- paper presented at a workshop held at the BIS in March 2003 (available at the BIS's HP).
- Oyama, T, Shiratori, T, 2001. Insights into the low profitability of Japanese banks: Some lessons from the analysis of trends in banks' margins. *Bank Examination and Surveillance Department Discussion Paper Series* 01-E-1, Tokyo: Bank of Japan. (available at the BoJ's HP)
- Sawayama, H., 2002. Groundlessly exaggerated amount of non-performing loans. *Kin'yu Zaisei Jijo* 2492, pp. 30-34 (in Japanese).
- Shiba, K., 1996. Approaches to banks' disclosure. *Jurisuto* 1085, pp. 34-38 (in Japanese).
- Spiegel, M. M., Yamori, N., 2003. Determinants of voluntary bank disclosure: Evidence from Japanese *shinkin* banks. *Pacific Basin Working Paper Series* PB03-03. San Francisco: Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco.
- Sudo, M., 2004. *Seisetsu Furyo Saiken Shori* (A Detailed Commentary on Non-performing Loan Disposal). Tokyo: Keizai Horei Kenkyukai (in Japanese).
- Takenaka, S., 1998. Change the mindset from a uniform disclosure duty to a factor of competition. *Kin'yu Zaisei Jijo* 2326, pp. 12-14 (in Japanese).
- Yamada, Y., 1998. Disaggregated disclosure of Category II is essential. *Kin'yu Zaisei Jijo* 2326, pp. 16-19 (in Japanese).
- Yamori, N., 2002. Changes in the bank disclosure regime in the 1990s and banks' disclosure activities. In: *Kin'yu Kaikaku-no Hyoka to Tembo (Kin'yu Chosa Kenkyukai Hokokusho* 29), Tokyo: Kin'yu Chosa Kenkyukai, pp. 83-116 (in Japanese).

Data Annex. Credit risk disclosure by individual banking organizations in Japan

Table A1. Statistical analysis results

Desc	Descriptive Statistics	e Star	tistic.	S				1														Ì						1										ı
																		Banks,	Banks and Credit Associations combined	t Associa	itions cor	nbined																1
														L					Com	Commercial Banks	anks												Credi	it Associa	Credit Associations (SHINK=1)	HINK=1	_	l
			<u> </u>	1		f		T	L	4		f			L	City E	City Banks (CITYB=1)	(TYB=1)		\neg	L	Regi	Regional Banks	ıks		$\overline{}$	Regiona	ll Banks	2nd Ass	Regional Banks 2nd Ass. (REGB2=1)	2=1)	1	L			ļ		ı
				Co High	Competition Medium 1	wo	Area Urban R	a Rural	1	Tigh N	Competition Medium	Low	Area Urban R	sa Rural	1	Com, ligh Me	Competition Medium L	n Low Ur	Area Urban Rural	la!	Hig	Competition th Medium	tition ium Low	Ar W Urban	Area an Rural	7	High	Competition	itton m Low	Urba	Area m Rural	-	High	Competition h Medium	ition m Low	Urba	Area m Rural	l =
-		\prod	_			_			O			_	M3=1	_	O			0		_	Ö	_	ŏ	_	_	-	0)	ũ	_		Ç		8		_	ı
	Disclosure Reports (SCORE-D)	Mean Std.Dev. No. Obs.	11.10 1.72 253	11.08	11.06 1.57 60	11.18	11.18	11.05 1.64 164	12.36 1.54 1.12	12.79 1.69 43	11.99 1.33 34	12.19 1.43 35	13.00	12.13 1 1.38 83	13.94 1.82 8	13.94 1.82 8	0	110	13.94 1.82 8	12.	12.47 12. 1.51 1. 62	12.71 12. 1.66 1. 21	12.32 12. 1.36 1. 1.9	12.36 12. 1.52 2. 22	2.04 12. 11.	12.41 11.89 1.39 1.30 51 42	.89 12.25 .30 1.44 42 14	= -	57 11.88 22 1.24 15 13	12	= -	69 10.10 26 1.07 32 141	0 1	26 9.85 .11 0.86 90 26	35 9.78 36 1.06 26 25	8 10.30 16 1.11 5 60	6 -	.94 81
Score Score	Disclosure Reports Voluntary (SCORE-V)	y Std.Dev. No. Obs.	4.12 2.13 253	4.24 2.25 133	3.82 1.83 60	4.15 2.11 60	4.29 2.33 89	4.02 2.01 164	5.13 2.40 112	5.69 2.69 43	4.51 2.08 34	5.04 2.20 35	5.93 2.81 29	4.85 2.18 83	7.31 2.96 8	7.31 2.96 8	1 1 0	110	7.31	0 2.5	5.52 5. 2.31 2. 62	5.71 5. 2.63 2. 21	5.26 5. 2.10 2. 19	5.57 5. 2.25 3. 22	5.64 5. 3.09 2.	5.50 4.13 2.14 1.98 51 42	3 4.71 88 2.30 12 14	3.57 30 1.68 14 15		4.15 5.15 1.88 2.14 13 10	1.3	81 3.32 84 1.45 32 141	32 3.55 45 1.62 41 90	55 2.90 52 0.84 90 26	34 1.13 26 25		3.50 3.18 1.56 1.37 60 81	37
	Business Result Briefs (SCORE-T)	Mean Std.Dev. No. Obs.	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1.1.1	111	10.79 2.19 117	10.96 1.92 45	10.49 2.32 34	10.87 2.40 38	11.05	2.35 89	12.50 0.96 8	12.50 0.96 8	0	110	0.96	1 0	2.05 11. 64	11.25 10. 1.49 2. 22	2.34 2. 2.0 20	11.25 11. 2.31 1. 22	11.18 11.1	2.20 2.25 53 45	25 2.14 45 15	9. 5.	_	0.34 9.61 2.49 1.17 16 9	10.	36		111		1 1 1	111	
	Combined Score (SCORE-C)	Mean Std.Dev. No. Obs.	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	111	14.55 1.84 109	14.63 1.35 42	14.30 1.97 33	14.68 2.24 34	14.84 1.37 28	14.44 1.98 81	16.13 1.06 8	16.13 1.06 8	1 1 0	110	1.06	1 0	14.72 14. 1.79 1. 62	14.69 14. 1.10 1. 21	14.53 14.91 1.97 2.19 19 22		14.77 14.7 1.23 1.1 1.1	14.71 13.95 1.90 1.83 51 39	13.62 13.028 13.098	4 2	_	13.7	78 14.00 71 2.06 9 30	111	111		111	1 1 1	1 1 1	
Credit Assets (CRED) in ¥ billion	rts (CRED)	Mean Std.Dev. No. Obs.	1203.6 5373.5 451	2014.9 7735.1 211	513.3 892.6 124	465.9 2 780.7 8 116	2257.9 683.5 8212.8 3030.2 149 302	683.5 38 030.2 97 302	3841.7 7566.8 9742.0 14657.7 125 50	566.8 1. 4657.7 1 50	1496.2 1 1170.5 36	1230.9 9 963.1 39	9009.3 1 15847.2 5 33	1988.1 31 5277.8 20 92	31070.8 3 20075.9 20	31070.8 20075.9 8	110	- 31C - 20C	31070.8 20075.9 8	- 2143 - 1459 0	2148.2 2558.4 1450.0 1920.8 64 22	219.	104	275 226	202	689	367	37.	4.2 628.1 2.1 309.6 16 17	132	804	0.4 192.1 3.2 259.5 39 326	.1 290.7 .5 328.3 26 161	11 01	1.3 78.4 9.7 77.2 88 77	4 337.3 2 352.6 7 116	.6 134.6 16 210	6.9.0
s Reports	Available	Mean Std.Dev. No. Obs.	2024.6 7070.4 253	3065.3 9599.4 133	930.6 1131.2 60	811.7 30 960.9 10 60	3611.9 1163.2 10430.8 4052.7 89 164		4219.5 8707.9 10228.7 15527.9 112 43		1530.3 1 1193.7 34	1317.4 980.2 35	10176.5 2 16593.8 5 29	2138.1 31 5538.0 20 83	31070.8 31070.8 20075.9 20075.9 8 8	31070.8 20075.9 8	1 1 0	- 31 0 20	31070.8 20075.9 8	- 219 - 145 0	2191.0 2661.3 1451.2 1905.1 62 21	224	104	275 226	207 1208	209	1321	38	6.8 675.6 5.0 339.5 15 13	923	224 887	5.2 281.2 4.1 339.2 32 141	36	4 0	6.4 103.6 2.5 115.6 26 25	8 8	16	4.2 7.9 81
Disclosure	Not Available	Mean Std.Dev. No. Obs.	154.6 197.2 198	223.8 228.5 78	122.1 189.3 64	95.4 116.8 56	249.5 217.6 60	113.4 172.9 138	586.7 324.4 13	557.3 352.5 7	915.6 467.5 2	473.7 92.3 4	546.9 355.3 4	604.4 330.7 9	0	ı ı °	110			- 82 - 60 0	821.8 397.4 600.1 0.0 2 1	72	0.0		- 821.8 - 600.1 0 2	1.8 543.9 0.1 277.9 2 11	9 584.0 9 378.3 .1 6	.0 585.0 .3 0.0 6 1	.0 473.7 .0 92.3 1 4	3.7 546.9 2.3 355.3 4 4	5.9 542.3 5.3 256.1 4 7	5 4	4.3 290.7 3.8 328.3 185 161	= 9	1.3 78.4 9.7 77.2 88 77	19	8.3 79.1 2.4 83.7 56 129	1.7
esult Briefs	Available	Mean Std.Dev. No. Obs.	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1	4058.5 8345.7 10035.1 15265.9 11.7 45	345.7 1 5265.9 1 45	1547.2 1228.5 1185.2 976.0 34 38		10518.6 2 16793.8 5 28	2026.1 31 5362.5 20 89	31070.8 3 20075.9 20 8	31070.8 20075.9 8	0	1 31 0	31070.8 20075.9 8	- 2148.2 - 1450.0 0 64	1928	219	104	275 226	202	747	471 <u>5</u>	3.7 623.6 7.3 399.4 15 14	58° 26	1744. 900.	837.	3.8	111		111	1 1 1	1 1 1	
Business R	Not Available	Mean Std.Dev. No. Obs.	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	111	670.3 353.2 8	557.2 308.5 5	628.8 1319.2 61.9 0.0 2 1	1319.2 0.0 1	557.2 308.5 5	858.9 401.0 3	ı ı °	ı ı °	°	ı ı °								- 670.3 - 353.2 0 8	3 557.2 2 308.5 8 5	628.	13	19.2 557.2 0.0 308.5 1 5	7.2 858.9 8.5 401.0 5 3	9,0,6	111	111	111	1 1 1	1 1 1	
ed Score	Available	Mean Std.Dev. No. Obs.	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1	4311.8 8901.0 10354.1 15663.8 109 42		1556.3 1317.4 1202.4 995.0 33 34		10518.6 2 16793.8 5 28	2166.3 31 5603.6 20 81	31070.8 3. 20075.9 20	31070.8 20075.9 8	1 1 0	1 31 0	31070.8 20075.9 8	- 219 - 145 0	2191.0 2661.3 1451.2 1905.1 62 21	113	104	6.7 2750.7 1.2 2264.3 22 11	0.7 2070.3 4.3 1208.3 11 51	219. 802.	1369.	396	3.6 621.9 9.4 291.4 14 12	1.9 1744.0 1.4 900.9 12 9	916	3.5	111	111	111	1 1 1	1 1 1	
Combino	Not Available	Mean Std.Dev. No. Obs.	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	638.6 342.9 16	562.4 326.7 8	834.6 359.1 3	642.8 386.5 5	557.2 308.5 5	675.6 365.4 11	1 1 0	1 1 0	1 1 0	1 1 0	0	- 82 - 600	821.8 397.4 600.1 0.0 2 1	124			- 821.8 - 600.1 0 2	1.8 612.4 0.1 319.5 2 14	.4 586.0 .5 345.4 .4 7	.0 628.8 .4 61.9 7 2	.8 642.8 .9 386.5 2 5	2.8 557.2 5.5 308.5 5 5	7.2 643.1 8.5 339.6 5 9	1 9 6	1 1 1	111	1 1 1	1 1 1	111	1
Capital 2003 (<i>CAP-03</i>) in %	13 (CAP-03)	Mean Std.Dev. No. Obs.	10.63 3.94 451	10.73 4.45 211	10.67 3.39 124	3.51 116	10.49 4.66 149	3.54 3.02	8.88 1.87 125	9.05 1.78 50	8.81 1.89 36	8.73 1.98 39	9.00 1.94 33	8.84 1.85 92	9.20 3.17 8	9.20 3.17 8	1 1 0	1 1 0	9.20 3.17	0 1 0	9.53 9. 1.68 1. 64	9.28 9. 1.61 1. 22	9.75 9. 1.47 1. 20	9.57 8. 1.95 1. 22	8.95 9.0 1.97 1.1	9.65 8.05 1.61 1.51 53 53	05 8.74 51 1.20 53 20	7.		7.64 8.92 1.44 0.90 17 14	7.	74 11.30 57 4.31 39 326	30 11.25 31 4.88 26 161	25 11.44 88 3.58 51 88	11.26 58 3.80 38 77	35	192 11.51 1.11 3.79 116 210	12 60
s Keports	Available	Mean Std.Dev. No. Obs.	10.33 3.86 253	10.77 4.58 133	9.75 2.67 60	9.95 2.98 60	5.15	10.20 2.95 164	8.93 1.91 112	9.06	8.75 1.93 34	8.94 1.99 35	8.97 2.00 29	8.91 1.89 83	9.20 3.17 8	9.20 3.17 8	1 1 0		9.20 3.17	0 1 0	9.53 9. 1.70 1. 62	9.31 9. 1.64 1. 21	9.73 9. 1.51 1. 19	9.57 8. 1.95 1. 22	8.95 9.0 1.97 1.1 1.1 1.1	9.66 7.98 1.64 1.54 51 42	∞ -	7		7.86 8.79 1.58 0.49 1.3 10	7. 1.	72 11.45 67 4.59 32 141	5	11 2	06 11.36 95 3.55 26 25	5	= 6	.52 .25 81
Disclosur	Not Available	Mean Std.Dev. No. Obs.	11.01 4.02 198	10.65 4.25 78	3.77 64	3.96	3.87	11.29 4.06 138	8.49 1.41 13	9.02 1.18 7	9.73 0.56 2	6.96 0.51 4	9.24 1.62 4	8.16 1.26 9	1 1 0	1 1 0	0	1 1 0	0	0 1 9	9.37 8. 1.06 0. 2	8.62 10. 0.00 0.	0.00 - 1		0 .1	9.37 8.33 1.06 1.45 2 11	.33 9.08 .45 1.28 11 6	9.33 28 0.00 6 1	33 47.37 30 9.23 1 4	37 9.24 23 1.62 4 4	24 7.82 62 1.15 4 7	= 4	1.18 11.25 1.08 4.88 185 161	3	.44 11.26 .58 3.80 88 77	3	_ `	1.51 4.10 129

		lacksquare								Ì							Banks	and Cred	it Associ	Banks and Credit Associations combined	mbined															
																		Com	Commercial Banks	3anks														10,	7.24	
															City	City Banks (CITYB=1)	TTYB=1)				Reg	Regional Banks	ıks			Regiona	Regional Banks 2nd Ass. (REGB2=1)	2nd Ass.	(REGB2	=1)		Credit	Associa	Credit Associations (SHINK=1)	INK=1)	
				Competition	ion	Aı	Area		Ü	Competition	uo.	Area	ea		Con	Competition		Area			Competition	etition		Area			Competition	tion	1	Area)	Competition	ion	Ψ	Area
			High COM2=1	th Medium 2=1 —	Low COMI=1	Urban =1 COM3=1	Rural —		High COM2=1	Medium —	Low COMI=1	Urban COM3=1	Rural —		High N	Medium L	Low U ₁	Urban Ru	Rural —	High COM2=1		Medium Low COMI=1	w Urban	an Rural	al	High COAZ=1	Medium	m Low COMI=1	Urban :1 <i>COM3</i> =1	Rural		High COM2=1	Medium 1	Low COMI=1	Urban COM3=1	Rural -
				1	ı	I	1	8.85	1	8.75	J	8.97	8.81	9.20	9.20	ı	ı	9.20	1	9.53 9.	1		1	8.95	9.65 7.82		59 7.34	4 7.51	1 8.78	8 7.58	- - - -	I	I	I	I	1
El ilus	Available Std	Std.Dev.		1 1	1 1		1 1	1.90	1.83		38		1.87		3.17	۰ 0	۰ 0	3.17	0		1.61	20	1.95		1.61 53 4							1 1	1 1	1 1	1 1	1 1
: Kes	2			- 1	ı	I	ı	9 37	0	6		6	9 70	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı				·	ď	6	6	6	6	6 917	6	١	- 1	ı	ı	ı	ı
	ilable			1	I	I	I	1.12				1.41	0.35	ı	ı	ı	ı	1	ı	1	1	1	1	1	- 1.12						1	1	I	I	I	ı
_		No. Obs.		1	I	I	I	∞	5	2	-	2	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	∞	2	2	_			I	I	I	I	ı
	M Available Std	Mean –		1 1	1 1	1 1	1 1	8.91	9.06	8.71	8.91	8.97	8.89	9.20	9.20	1 1	1 1	9.20	1.1	9.53 9.	9.31 9	9.73 9.	9.57 8: 1.95 1:	8.95 9.4 1.1 76.1	9.66 7.86 1.64 1.52		8.56 7.34 1.22 1.61	4 7.70 11 1.54	0 8.78 4 0.52	8 7.58 2 1.62	8 7	1 1	1 1	1 1	1 1	1 1
				1	I	I	I	109					81	∞	∞	0	0	∞	0			_									- (1	I	I	I	I
onidmo S S S S	ilable	Mean Std.Dev. –		1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	8.69	9.00	9.82	7.52	9.17	8.48	II	II	1 1	1 1	1 1	11	9.37 8.	8.62 10	0.00		0. <u>-</u> ;	9.37 8.60 1.06 1.39		9.06 9.68	8 7.52 9 1.33	9.1	2.2	8 40 9	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1
Bivariate Correlation Analysis (Pearson correlation coeff	tte Co.	rrelat	ion .	4naly	sis (Pear	uos.	corr	elati	on c	oeffi	icients)	ts)																							
SCORE-D × SCORE-V		Coef. 0.920 Signif. 0.000 No. Obs. 253	0 0	0.924 0.907 0.000 0.000 133 60	7 0.933) 0.000) 60	3 0.940 0 0.000 0 89	0.000	0.951 0.000 112	0.960 0.000 43	0.934 0.000 34	0.000	0.963 0.000 29	0.942 0.000 83	0.0000	0.990	1 1 0	1 1 0	0.0000	0 0	0.959 0.9 0.000 0.0 62	0.955 0.5 0.000 0.0 21	0.960 0.971 0.000 0.000 19 22		0.973 0.956 0.000 0.000 11 51	0.6	019 0.930 000 0.000 42 14	30 0.894 00 0.000 14 15	4 0.919 0 0.000 5 13	9 0.882 0 0.000 3 10	2 0.924 0 0.000 0 32	4 0.920 0 0.000 2 141	0 0.922 0 0.000 1 90	2 0.968 0 0.000 0 26	3 0.930 0 0.000 5 25	0.937 0.000 60	0.905 0.000 81
$SCORE-D \times SCORE-T$		Coef.		1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	0.269	0.381	0.068	0.336	0.438 0.010 28	0.214 0.028 81	0.936	0.936	110	110	0.936 0.000 8	1 1 0	0.241 0.1 0.029 0.2 62	0.142 0.1 0.270 0.2 21	0.151 0.399 0.268 0.033 19 22		0.212 0.261 0.266 0.032 11 51	61 -0.011 32 0.475 51 39	11 0.060 75 0.423 89 13	50 -0.210 23 0.235 13 14	0 0.164 5 0.306 4 12	4 -0.036 6 0.463 2 9	5 0.010 3 0.478 9 30	111	111	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1
SCORE-D × SCORE-C		Coef.		111	1 1 1	1 1 1	1.1.1	0.354 0.000 109	0.488 0.001 42	0.086 0.317 33	0 0	0.550 0.001 28	0.0	0.800	0.800 0.009	ı ı °	110	0.800 0.009 8	0 0	0.341 0.2 0.003 0.1 62	0.250 0.2 0.137 0.1 21	0.210 0.530 0.194 0.006 19 22		0.380 0.352 0.124 0.006 11 51	52 0.104 06 0.263 51 39	04 0.250 53 0.205 89 13	50 -0.180 35 0.269 13 14	0 0.367 9 0.120 4 12	7 0.186 0 0.316 2 9	5 0.121 5 0.263 9 30	111	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1.1.1	1 1 1
SCORE-D × LCRED		Coef. 0.666 Signif. 0.000 No. Obs. 253	66 0.663 00 0.000 53 133	63 0.711 00 0.000 33 60	00000	8 0.655 0 0.000 0 89	0.680	0.476 0.000 112	0.508	0.463 0.003 34	0.220 0.102 35	0.498 0.003 29	0.377 0.000 83	0.247 0.278 8	0.247 0.278 8	110	110	0.247 0.278 8	0.0	0.343 0.5 0.003 0.0 62	0.504 0.3 0.010 0.0 21	0.362 0.119 0.064 0.299 19 22		0.798 0.179 0.002 0.104 11 51	0.0	132 0.449 102 0.054 42 14	19 0.422 54 0.059 14 15	2 0.238 9 0.217 5 13	8 -0.057 7 0.437 3 10	7 0.448 7 0.005 0 32	8 0.234 5 0.003 2 141	4 0.173 3 0.051 1 90	3 0.171 0.202 0 26	0.134	0.128 0.164 60	0.239 0.016 81
$SCORE-D \times CAP-03$		Coef0.162 Signif. 0.005 No. Obs. 253	.162 -0.138 .005 0.057 253 133	38 -0.238 57 0.034 33 60	3 -0.203 4 0.060 5 60	3 -0.111 0 0.151 0 89	-0.229 0.002 164	0.133 0.082 112	0.130 0.203 43	0.095 0.296 34	0.138	0.115 0.276 29	0.143 0.098 83	-0.029 · 0.473	-0.029 0.473 8	1 1 0	110	-0.029 0.473 8	0.00	0.118 0.2 0.181 0.1 62	0.249 0.0 0.139 0.4 21	0.016 0.098 0.474 0.333 19 22		0.222 0.102 0.256 0.239 11 51	02 -0.003 39 0.492 51 42	0.016 0.016 0.479 0.479	16 -0.220 79 0.215 14 15	0 0.020 5 0.474 5 13	0 0.204 4 0.286 3 10	4 -0.129 5 0.240 0 32	9 0.062 0 0.231 2 141	2 0.043 1 0.344 1 90	3 0.100 4 0.313 5 26	0.104 0.310 5 25	0.056 0.335 60	0.086 0.222 81
$SCORE-V \times SCORE-T$		Coef. Signif. 1		1 1 1	111	1 1 1	1 1 1	0.292 0.001 109	0.408	0.192 0.142 33	0.260	0.494 0.004 28	0.231 0.019 81	0.951 0.000 8	0.951 0.000 8	I I °	110	0.951 0.000 8	1 1 0	0.238 0.0 0.031 0.4 62	0.048 0.2 0.418 0.1 21	0.221 0.395 0.182 0.034 19 22	0.395 0.131 0.034 0.351 22 11	0.0	71 0.007 127 0.484 51 39	07 0.275 84 0.182 89 13	75 -0.064 82 0.415 13 14	4 -0.109 5 0.368 4 12	9 0.375 8 0.160 2 9	5 -0.031 0 0.435 9 30	111	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1
SCORE-V × SCORE-C		Coef. Signif. 1		1 1 1	111	1 1 1	1 1 1	0.341 0.000 109	0.465 0.001 42	0.182 0.156 33	0.387 0.012 34	0.530 0.002 28	0.286 0.005 81	0.736 0.019 8	0.736 0.019 8	I I °	110	0.736 0.019 8	1 1 0	0.319 0.1 0.006 0.2 62	0.167 0.2 0.235 0.1 21	0.244 0.503 0.157 0.009 19 22		0.304 0.339 0.181 0.008 11 51	0.0	0.3	49 -0.029 21 0.461 13 14	0.08	86 0.337 95 0.188 2 9	7 0.072 8 0.354 9 30	111	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1
CHADI ~ THACOS		Coef. 0.533	33 0.531	31 0.557	0.520	0 0.567	0.505	0.432	0.446	0.451	0.229	0.446	0.358	0.259	0.259	1 1	1 1	0.259	0 0	0.219 0.3	0.361 0.2	0.242 0.041		0.690 0.059	59 0.369	90.404	77.0 40	7 0.073	3 -0.195	5 0.400	0 0.265	5 0.220	0.147	0.076	0.248	0.238
														∞	∞	0	0	∞	0																09	81
												-			-0.051	ı	٠ ا	-0.051	0.																	0.097
$SCORE-V \times CAP-03$		Signif. 0.095 No. Obs. 253	_).133 0.403 133 60	0.171	1 0.174 0 89	0.176	0.041	0.262	34	0.223	0.381	0.025	0.453	0.453	0	0	0.453 8	0	0.209 0.1 62	0.192 0.3 21	0.385 0.396		0.346 0.240 11 51	340 0.445 51 42	15 0.449 12 14	19 0.474 14 15	4 0.306 5 13	6 0.458 3 10	8 0.313 0 32	3 0.346 2 141	6 0.478 1 90	8 0.233) 26	3 0.316 5 25	0.492	0.194 81

Table A1. (continued)	; A1.	(con	ıtinı	(par																																	_
																	Ba	Banks and Credit Associations combined	Tedit Ass	sociations	s combin	pau															, ,
)	Commerci	Commercial Banks												رمور	it Account	(I=MM) succipitations (SHIME-1)	1-2000		
														L,	Ci	City Banks (CITYB=1)	s (CITYB	3=1)			-	Regional Banks	Banks			Regi	ional Bar	Regional Banks 2nd Ass. (REGB2=1)	ss. (REC	<i>B2</i> =1)		2	III ASSOCI	ations (3	T-WA-1		
				Competition	tition	,	Area			Competition	tition		Area		J	Competition	ion	Ar	Area		°C	Competition	ı.	Area	85		Con.	Competition		Area			Competition	ition	1	Area	l
			H GO	High Medium	um Low - COMI=1	w Urban	n Rural	-	High COM2=1	h Medium	um Low COMI=1	v Urban !=1 COM3=1	n Rural =1 -	_	High COM2=1	Medium 1	Low COMI=1	Urban 1 COM3=1	Rural —		High N	Medium –	Low 1	Urban I	Rural -	<u> </u>	High Mc	Medium L	Low Ur	Urban Rural	ural —	High COM2=1	h Medium	m Low COMI=1	Urban 1 COM3=1	Rural 1	ı
SCORE-T × SCORE-C		Coef. Signif. No. Obs.	1 1 1	111	111	111		- 0.942 - 0.000 - 109	12 0.902 00 0.000 09 42	22 0.964 20 0.000 12 33	64 0.950 00 0.000 33 34	0.0	96 0.949 000 0.000 28 81	9 0.734 00 0.019 11 8	4 0.734 9 0.019 8 8	1 1 0 ×	110	0.734 0.019 0 8	110	0.944 0.000 62	0.865 0.000 21	0.974 0.000 19	0.944 0.000 22	0.918 0.000 11	0.947 (0.000 (51)	0.940 (0.000 (39	0.903 (0.000 (13	0.958 0 0.000 0	0.956 0 0.000 0 12	0.748 0. 0.010 0. 9	0.951 . 0.000 . 30 .	111	111		111	1 1 1	i
$SCORE-T \times LCRED$		Coef. Signif. No. Obs.	1 1 1	111	111	111		0.194 0.018 117	94 0.287 8 0.028 7 45	87 0.077 28 0.332 15 34	32 0.117 34 38	0.0	584 0.078 301 0.234 28 89	% 0.159 44 0.353 9 8	9 0.159 3 0.353 8 8	110	110	0.159	110	0.021 0.435 64	0.050	-0.078 0.372 20	0.117 0.302 22	0.333 - 0.159 11	0.015	0.119 -(0.218 (45	-0.120 -0.336 0.336 0.15	0.248 0 14	0.060 -0 0.412 0 16	0.308 0.995 0.99	0.090 0.301 36	111	111		111	1 1 1	
$SCORE-T \times CAP-03$		Coef. Signif. No. Obs.	1 1 1	111	111	111		0.282	22 0.113 01 0.231 7 45	13 0.341 31 0.024 15 34	41 0.377 24 0.010 34 38	0.0	101 0.327 304 0.001 28 89	0.0	17 0.017 84 0.484 8 8	1 1 0	110	0.017 0.484 0 8	110	0.219 0.041 64	0.147 0.257 22	0.219 0.177 20	0.285 0.099 22	0.135 0.346 111	0.242 0.040 53	0.205 -(0.088 (45	0.070 (0.401 (15)	0.296 0 0.152 0 14	0.437 0 0.045 0 16	0.029 0. 0.470 0.	0.255 0.066 36	111	111		111	1 1 1	
SCORE-C × LCRED		Coef. Signif. No. Obs.	1 1 1	111	111	111	1 1 1	- 0.246 - 0.005 - 109	16 0.578 05 0.000 09 42	78 -0.013 00 0.471 12 33	13 0.227 71 0.098 33 34	0.0	588 0.123 001 0.137 28 81	0.0-	89 -0.089 7 0.417 8 8	1 1 0	110	-0.089 0.417	110	0.157 0.112 62	0.545 0.005 21	-0.025 0.459 19	0.186 0.203 22	0.417 0.101 11	0.120 4 0.200 51	0.368 (39	0.320 -(0.143 (13	0.301 0 0.148 0 14	0.168 -0 0.301 0 12	-0.063 -0. 0.436 0.	-0.038 - 0.422 - 30 -	1 1 1	111		1 1 1	1 1 1	
$SCORE-C \times CAP-03$		Coef. Signif. No. Obs.	1 1 1	111	111	111		- 0.272 - 0.002 - 109	72 0.260 02 0.048 09 42	50 0.262 48 0.071 42 33	62 0.291 71 0.047 33 34	0.0	251 0.282 399 0.005 28 81	0.3	50 0.360 90 0.190 8 8	110	110	0.360 0.190	110	0.213 0.048 62	0.296 0.096 21	0.236 0.165 19	0.186 0.204 22	0.226 0.252 11	0.222 0.059 0.059	0.205 -(0.105 (39	0.454 (0.221 0.224 0.4 14	0.425 0 0.084 0	0.237 0. 0.270 0. 9	0.236	111	111		111	1 1 1	
LCRED × CAP-03		Coef0 Signif. 0 No. Obs.	-0.280 -0. 0.000 0. 451	-0.294 -0.2 0.000 0.0 211 11	-0.282 -0.311 0.001 0.000 124 116	0.311 -0.297 0.000 0.000 116 149	77 -0.277 30 0.000 49 302	77 0.242 30 0.003 32 125	12 0.027 13 0.426 15 50	27 0.446 26 0.003 50 36	46 0.513 03 0.000 36 39	13 0.043 00 0.407 39 33	13 0.369 17 0.000 13 92	9 -0.120 00 0.388 12 8	0 -0.120 8 0.388 8 8	110	110	-0.120 0.388) 8	110	0.170 0.090 64	0.302 0.086 22	0.033 0.446 20	0.186 0.203 22	0.172 0.306 1.1	0.200 0.075 0.075	0.138 -(0.162 (53	-0.296 (0.102 (20	0.151 0 0.288 0 16	0.533 -0 0.014 0 17	0.040 0. 0.447 0. 14	0.070 -0.1 0.336 0.0 39 3	-0.198 -0.275 0.000 0.000 326 161	0.0	00 -0.166 77 0.075 88	5 -0.335 5 0.000 7 116	5 -0.071 0 0.154 5 210	_ + ^
	Disclosure Reports	Coef0 Signif. 0 No. Obs.	-0.292 -0. 0.000 0. 253	-0.312 -0.2 0.000 0.0 133	-0.223 -0.395 0.043 0.001 60 60	1.395 -0.315 1.001 0.001 60 89	15 -0.307 31 0.000 39 164	07 0.231 00 0.007 54 112	0.020 07 0.450 2 43	20 0.454 50 0.003 13 34	54 0.463 03 0.003 34 35	0.0	67 0.349 66 0.001 29 83	19 -0.120 11 0.388 13 8	0 -0.120 8 0.388 8 8	110	110	-0.120 0.388) 8	110	0.161 0.106 62	0.296 0.097 21	0.041 0.433 19	0.186 0.203 22	0.172 0.306 1.1	0.186 0.096 0.18	0.168 -0 0.144 (-0.343 (0.115 (0.143 0 0.306 0	0.537 0 0.029 0 13	0.184 0. 0.305 0.	0.067 -0.2 0.358 0.0 32 1	-0.227 -0.266 0.003 0.006 141 90	0.0	27 -0.548 448 0.002 26 25	8 -0.343 2 0.004 5 60	3 -0.086 4 0.223 0 81	vs *
lisva dhiw a w ∝ w	Business Result Briefs	Coef. Signif. No. Obs.	1 1 1	111	111	1 1 1		0.261 0.002	51 0.034 02 0.412 7 45	34 0.468 12 0.003 15 34	68 0.510 03 0.001 34 38	0.0	067 0.376 167 0.000 28 89	76 -0.120 00 0.388 9 8	0 -0.120 8 0.388 8 8	110	110	-0.120 0.388 0 8	110	0.170 0.090 64	0.302 0.086 22	0.033 0.446 20	0.186 0.203 22	0.172 0.306 11	0.200 0.075 0.075	0.176 -(0.124 (45	-0.319 (0.123 (15	0.108 0 0.356 0 14	0.434 0 0.047 0 16	0.276 0. 0.236 0. 9	0.041 0.406 36 .		111		111	1 1 1	
	Combined	Coef. Signif. No. Obs.	1 1 1	111	111	1 1 1	1 1 1	- 0.237 - 0.006 - 109	6 0.456 06 0.456 09 42	18 0.469 56 0.003 12 33	69 0.460 03 0.003 33 34	60 0.067 03 0.367 34 28	57 0.355 57 0.001 58 81	55 -0.120 01 0.388 11 8	0 -0.120 8 0.388 8 8	1 1 0	110	-0.120 0.388) 8	110	0.161 0.106 62	0.296 0.097 21	0.041 0.433 19	0.186 0.203 22	0.172 0.306 11	0.186 0.096 0.51	0.170 -(0.151 (39	-0.336 (0.131 (13	0.108 0 0.356 0 14	0.446 0 0.073 0 12	0.276 0. 0.236 0. 9	0.037 0.422 30	111		1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	1

Regression Analysis (Ordinary least squares)	C) cace	,		a make	6																	
Dependent	$(I-A)^2$	$(I-B)^2$	$(I-C)^2$	$(I-D)^2$	$(I-E)^2$	$(I-F)^2$	$(I-G)^2$	(I-H) ²	$(II-A)^{2,3}$	$(II-B)^{2,3}$	$(\Pi-C)^{2,3}$	(II-D) ^{2,3}	(III-A) ⁴	$(III-B)^4$	(IV-A) ⁴	$(IV-B)^4$	(IV-C) ⁴	$(IV-D)^4$	(V-A) ⁴	(V-B) ⁴	(VI-A) ⁴	(VI-B) ⁴
Regressors:	SCORE-D	SCORE-D	SCORE-V	SCORE-V	SCORE-D	SCORE-D	SCORE-V	SCORE-V	SCORE-D	SCORE-V	SCORE-D	SCORE-V	SCORE-V	SCORE-V	SCORE-T	SCORE-T	SCORE-T	SCORE-T	SCORE-D	SCORE-D	SCORE-C	SCORE-C
(Constant)	5.0023 [.038]	6.5199	-3.9428	-1.6901	5.3898	5.1656	-3.2373	-3.9027	-2.4877	-25.2687	-7.3141 [.544]	-32.9341	-2.1375	-1.6576	10.1568	8.6328	10.4177	9.0473	6.1981	6.4595	11.6695	12.2727 [.000]
LCRED	0.6844	0.5474	0.8662	0.6489	0.6668	0.6885	0.8347	0.8884	1.1264	2.5314	1.7292	3.6176	0.7250	0.6964	-0.1476	0.0393	-0.1530	0.0222	0.6123	0.5931	0.1057	0.0513
	[.002]	[:065]	[.011]	[.173]	[.002]	[.034]	[.011]	[.073]	[.262]	[.100]	[.146]	[.056]	[.004]	.004]	[.536]	[:902]	[1451]	.944]	[000]	[000:]	[616.]	[735]
CAP-03	0.0510	0.0572	0.0575	0.0717	0.0489	0.0530	0.0544	0.0618	0.0896	0.1839	0.1208 [.130]	0.2336	0.0288	0.0315	0.2371	0.1981 [.098]	0.2366	[.100]	0.0146	0.0159	0.2054	0.2058
SHINK	-1.8830	6.2448 [.105]	-1.5047	6.1069	-1.7310 [.000]	1.8310	-1.21 <i>67</i> [.019]	-3.4170 [.709]	I	I	I	ı	ı	ı	I	I	I	I	I	ı	I	I
SHINK×LCRED	ı	-0.7296	I	-0.6644	ı	-0.3534	ı	0.2338	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	I	ı	ı
SHINK×CAP-03	ı	-0.0621 [.493]	I	-0.0718	I	-0.0205	I	0.0137	I	I	I	I	I	ı	I	I	I	I	I	I	I	1
CITYB	-0.2902	-0.1228	-0.4544	0.0276	-0.1690	-0.4102	-0.1827	-0.4132	I	I	ı	ı	-0.0700	-0.2312	1.8329	1.1714	1.9137	1.2180	-0.1052 [.887]	-0.2397 [.755]	1.4310 [.008]	1.4375
REGB2	-0.2919 [.291]	3.0633	-1.0099	2.1858	-0.2527 [.358]	2.5193	-0.9389	0.3928	ı	ı	ı	ı	-0.7186 [.153]	-0.7833	-0.91 <i>57</i> [.044]	0.1077	-0.9147 [.044]	0.2311	-0.0300 [.924]	-0.0715	-0.3220 [.399]	-0.3749 [.337]
$REGB2\times LCRED$	I	-0.2543 [.407]	I	-0.2213	1	-0.1415 [.639]	I	0.0311	I	I	I	ı	I	ı	ı	-0.2729 [.622]	I	-0.2914 [.476]	ı	ı	1	I
REGB2×CAP-03	I	-0.0992 [.589]	I	-0.1246	I	-0.1655 [.332]	I	-0.2378	1	I	I	I	I	I	I	0.2202	I	0.2159	I	ı	I	I
COMI	0.2256 [.310]	0.0567	0.4508	0.3617	I	I	ı	I	0.4499	1.1828	I	ı	0.4857	ı	0.3842 [.469]	0.3443	I	I	0.2066	ı	0.3136 [.535]	I
COM2	0.3368	0.2881	0.5258	0.3420	1	I	I	ı	0.9684	2.1776 [.068]	I	ı	0.3438	ı	0.14257	0.3898	I	I	0.1848 [.581]	ı	-0.1645 [.684]	I
COM3	ı	1	1	I	0.0626 [.741]	0.2308	-0.0359	0.1390	1	I	-0.4179 [.417]	-1.2560	I	0.3508	I	I	-0.1277 [.717]	0.1613	I	0.2817	1	-0.1099 [.723]
$SHINK \times COMI$	I	-0.2435 [.636]	ı	-0.4181	I	ı	I	I	I	I	I	I	I	ı	ı	I	I	I	ı	ı	I	1
SHINK×COM2	ı	-0.39 <i>57</i> [.426]	1	-0.2587	1	I	ı	ı	1	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	1	I	I	ı	1	ı	1	1
SHINK×COM3	ı	I	I	I	I	-0.1202 [.857]	I	-0.4490 [.676]	ı	I	I	ı	I	ı	I	I	ı	ı	I	I	ı	I
$REGB2{ imes}COMI$	ı	0.5915	I	0.4944	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	I	0.1232	ı	ı	I	I	ı	I
REGB2×COM2	ı	0.4591	I	0.6908	I	I	I	I	I	I	I	ı	I	ı	I	-0.7884 [.572]	I	I	I	I	I	I
$REGB2\times COM3$	ı	I	I	I	ı	0.3062	ı	0.5901	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	I	ı	ı	-0.8409	I	I	I	I
MILLS	1.3257	-1.4612 [.200]	1.5797	-1.2958	1.1286	0.2410	1.2114	1.9706	3.1491	7.6772	4.2218 [.195]	9.0958	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	I	ı	I
Number of observations	253	253	253	253	253	253	253	253	141	141	141	141	112	112	117	1117	117	117	112	112	109	109
Adjusted R-squared	0.5107	0.5021	0.3013	0.2802	0.5112	0.5053	0.2974	0.2888	0.0538	0.0914	0.0664	0.1068	0.1682	0.1722	0.1064	0.0888	0.1099	9860:0	0.1869	0.1961	0.0970	0.0958
F (zero slopes)	33.8842	16.8805	14.5813	7.1311	38.6426	20.7984	16.2383	8.8697	2.5924	3.8169	3.4899	5.1852	4.7405	5.6187	3.3028	2.1300	3.8637	2.5858	5.2513	6 4142	2 9344	3 2801

Table A1. (concluded)

Variables: SCORE-D − CDS (credit disclosure score) in disclosure reports, SCORE-V − CDS excluding mandatory numbers in disclosure reports, SCORE-T − CDS in business result briefs (banks only), SCORE-C − combined CDS in disclosure reports and business result briefs (banks only), CRED − credit assets in March 2003 (in ¥ billion; FRL-based assets for banks or amount of loans and bills discounted for credit associations), LCRED − the natural logarithm of CRED, CAP-03 − capital adequacy ratio in March 2003, SHINK − a dummy variable for credit association cases, CITYB − a dummy variable for the low competition zone, COM2− a dummy variable for the high competition zone, COM3− a dummy variable for the high competition zone, COM3− a dummy variable for urban areas, MILLS− the inverse Mills ratio function of residuals in the first step (probit) regression.

Notes: 1. P-values (based on heteroscedastic-consistent errors) are in parentheses. 2. Corrected for a sample selection bias using the Heckman (two-step) procedure. Regressors used in the first step (probit) regression are the same as in the reported OLS regression but MILLS. 3. Estimated over credit association cases. 4. Estimated over commercial bank cases.

Data Source: CDS values are calculated according to the weighting procedure of Table A2 by the data of disclosure reports and business result briefs (for financial year 2002) available from the corporate websites of banking organizations as of the beginning of March 2004.; credit asset and capital adequacy data - by the Keio Banking Database and Nikkei NEEDS database; market segmentation dummies – as set up in Table A3.

Table A2. Disclosure index weighting factors

Table A2. Disclosure much weighting factors	
Breakdown by sub-portfolios of credit products	
Total credit exposures by loans and bills vs. others ———	= 1.0
Loans and bills by type	
by domestic vs. foreign exposures	
by variable vs. fixed interest rate	MAX = 0.5
Acceptances and guarantees by type	= 0.5
Risk category transition matrix (structure by risk category)	0.5
Total gradit avnaguras by SAE harrayyar graup	
Total credit exposures by FRL asset category	- MAX = 1.0
SAF bor. gr. by current vs. past periods of impairment —	-05
FRL asset category by industry (sector)	- 0.3
	MAV = 1.0
	MAX = 1.0
RML category by industry (sector) Shared characteristics of each risk category	
Classification category definitions	- 1.0
Explanation of by-period changes in expected (estimated) lo	
(none)	
Distribution by the size of stand-alone exposures	- 2.0
Number of borrowers by the size of exposure	
Total loans and bills by the size of exposure	MAX = 1.0
Total found and offis by the size of exposure	
Non-impaired credit ex	posures
Size of exposure	
Total credit exposures by SAF non-impaired bor. group —	
Need special attention group itemized	
Loans and bills by home region vs. other regions	
Loans and bills by small vs. other business borrowers	= 0.5
Loans and bills by housing loans vs. others	= 0.5
Loans and bills by industry (sector)	= 0.5
Advances abroad by foreign region (country)	= 0.5
Expected (estimated) loss rate + Effective rate of interest	
Expected total credit loss in the next period by type	
Expected return on loans and bills in the next period Expected average funding cost in the next period	- MIN = 0.5 $-$
Expected average funding cost in the next period	
	= 0.5 — MAX
General ADL by SAF non-impaired bor. group ———	= 0.5
Average rate of return on loans and bills —	= 0.5 SUM
Average funding cost	= 0.5
Current value and structure of collateral assets (guarantees	s) pledged
Total loans and bills by type of collateral / guarantee	— $MAX = 0.5$
Guarantee endorsement by type of collateral / guarantee —	
Number of stand-alone exposures	
Number of borrowers by SAF non-impaired bor. group —	= 0.5
Number of borrowers by industry (sector)	
Number of borrowers by small vs. other businesses	MAX = 0.5
Number of borrowers by housing loans vs. others	
Prevailing maturity (duration)	
Loans and bills with fixed interest rate ————	= 0.5
by remaining term to maturity	
	3.4.37 0.7
by short-term vs. long-term	- MAX = 0.5

Impaired credit exposures

Size of exposure Total credit exposures by SAF impaired borrower group MAX = 1.0FRL (impaired) asset category SAF impaired bor. gr. by current vs. past periods of imp. Total FRL (impaired) assets by period of impairment MAX = 1.0FRL impaired categories by period of impairment -Total FRL (impaired) assets net of collateral / guarantees MAX = 0.5Total RMLs net of collateral / guarantees SAF impaired borrower group by risk category FRL impaired categories net of collateral / guarantees MAX = 0.5RML categories net of collateral / guarantees -Expected (estimated) loss rate Expected total credit loss in the next period by type -Expected return on loans and bills in the next period Expected average funding cost in the next period Specific ADL by SAF impaired borrower group by risk category ADL by FRL (impaired) asset categories ADL by RML categories Charges against specific ADL-Loan and bill (direct) write-offs — Disposed of loans and bills by type of disposal Cumulative collection performance Remaining FRL assets by period of impairment by type of disposal — Number of stand-alone exposures Defaulted in the current period by SAF impaired bor. gr. Bankruptcies over the current period by SAF bor. group \longrightarrow MAX = 0.5

Notes:

"MAX = weight" indicates situations in which a non-zero weight is assigned if any of the corresponding disclosures is present; "MIN = weight" – a non-zero weight is assigned only if all the corresponding disclosures are present; "SUM" – scores of the corresponding disclosures are summed up; "MAX" – the highest score among the corresponding disclosures is chosen.

Table A3. Geographic segmentation by market competition level

Drafaatura	Loan	Market Compe	etition ¹	Ar	rea ²
Prefecture	High (<i>COM2</i> =1)	Medium	Low (COM1=1)	Urban (COM3=1)	Rural (COM3=0)
Hokkaido	×			×	
Aomori			×		×
Iwate			×		×
Miyagi			×		×
Akita			×		×
Yamagata			×		×
Fukushima			×		×
Tochigi			×		×
Ibaraki			×		×
Gunma		×			×
Saitama	×			×	
Chiba	×			×	
Tokyo	×			×	
Kanagawa	×			×	
Niigata		×			×
Toyama		×			×
Ishikawa		×			×
Fukui	×				×
Yamanashi		×			×
Nagano		×			×
Gifu	×	^			×
Shizuoka	×				×
Aichi	×			×	
Mie	×				×
Shiga		×			×
Kyoto	×	^		×	^
Osaka	×			×	
Hyogo	×			×	
Nara	^	×		^	×
Wakayama		×			×
Tottori		×			×
Shimane		×			×
		×			×
Okayama Hiroshima		×			×
		^	~		
Yamaguchi Tokushima			× ×		× ×
		~	^		×
Kagawa		×	V		×
Ehime			×		
Kochi	.,		×		×
Fukuoka	×	,,			×
Saga		×			×
Nagasaki		×			×
Kumamoto			×		×
Oita			×		×
Miyazaki			×		×
Kagoshima		×			×
Okinawa			×		×

Notes:

1. Based on the cluster analysis (squared Euclidian distances) of prefecture dummy coefficients for riskadjusted interest rates of regional banks and credit associations in Kano and Tsutsui (2000, Table 5).

2. As suggested in Kano and Tsutsui (2000, p. 21).